
Date Published: 7 July 2020     

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Thursday 16 July 2020 at 10.00 am

Please note: In response to Covid-19 Emergency Guidelines this 
meeting will be held remotely and can be viewed on the County 
Council website by going to the following link: 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence Andrea Clarke

2  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of agenda.

3  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 6) Andrea Clarke

4  Children's Services Improvement Journey and Covid 19 (Pages 7 - 102)

The Committee will be joined by the Independent Chair of the Improvement 
Board and the council’s DfE Advisor.

The committee to discuss the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the 
council’s improvement journey. Questions include: -
 How did the council respond? 
 What has been the impact on vulnerable children and families?
 What has been the impact on practice?
 Have social workers been able to visit/see children and young 

people?
 What has been the impact on the Improvement journey?
 Has the council been able to progress the issues identified in the 

Ofsted Monitoring Letter (12 March 2020)?
 
Reports as listed below are attached to the agenda to inform members 
questions/lines of enquiry. It is not intended that these reports will be 
individually discussed: -
 Improvement Board Chair – Update Report
 Ofsted Monitoring Letter (March 2020)
 Practice Improvement Update
 Accelerated Improvement Plan Dashboard
 Self Assessment 

Chris Spencer, 
Andrew Ireland

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/


    

Membership – Cllr Chris Coleman, Cllr Stephen Davies, Cllr Bernard Fisher, Cllr Colin Hay, 
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller (Chairman), Cllr Loraine Patrick, Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Brian Robinson and 
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE (Vice-Chairman)

Added Members - Charlotte Blanch (Clifton Diocese) and Dr Richard Castle (Primary Sector 
Parent Governor Representative)

Co-Opted Member - Ambassador for Vulnerable Children and Young People

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Rob Ayliffe Tel: 01452 328506 e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.
 

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324203/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Will Members please sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see p88 of the 

Constitution).

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Julie.hill2@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
held on Thursday 5 March 2020 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, 
Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Chris Coleman
Cllr Bernard Fisher
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller 
(Chairman)

Cllr Loraine Patrick
Cllr Brian Robinson
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE (Vice-Chair)

Substitutes: Cllr Stephen Hirst (In place of Cllr Stephen Davies)

Others in 
attendance

Cllr Richard Boyles – Cabinet Member Early Years and Safeguarding
Chris Spencer – Director of Children’s Services
Steve Mawson – Director of Corporate Resources
Tim Browne – Director of Education
Kate Langley – Head of Service Youth Justice and Community Teams
Charlotte Jones – Head of Service for Children with Additional Needs
Suzanne Hall – Finance Business Partner

Apologies: Charlotte Blanch, Dr Richard Castle, Ambassador for Vulnerable Children 
and Young People and Cllr Alan Preest

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
No declarations of interest were received. 

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
The minutes of the meeting held on Thursday 16 January 2020 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

3. HMIP INSPECTION REPORT YOUTH OFFENDING SERVICE: ACTION PLAN 
3.1 The Head of Service, Youth Justice and Community Teams, presented the report. They 

informed the committee that the rating was disappointing, not only because the council had 
been only one point away from a good rating, but because the report demonstrated that 
good and outstanding work had been identified during the inspection. 

3.2 It was noted that the reason for the overall rating related to category 3 of the inspection: 
Out of Court Disposals. The Head of Service stated that the main factor here was the 
dissonance between the inspection framework and the Children First initiative; this was 
disappointing given the low recidivism rate in Gloucestershire (5.7%). In response to a 
question it was explained that the current framework did not distinguish between the 
traditional approach to out of court disposals and initiatives such as Children First. The 
Director of Children’s Services (DCS) informed members that if they had to say was the 
judgement right they would have to say ‘yes’, but only within the context that the judgement 
was made using a framework that was out of date.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

3.3 The DCS informed the committee that they had contacted the Chair of the Youth Justice 
Board (YJB) to discuss the council’s concerns and challenge the inspection outcomes. His 
concerns were supported by the Leader and Chief Executive of the council who had also 
written to the Chair of the YJB to present their concerns. They had also shared their 
concerns with the Association of Directors of Children’s Services (ACDS). The DCS also 
informed the committee that they felt that there had been a tension between the YJB and 
the regulator (this was a longstanding issue), but there was now an ongoing debate 
between the HMIP and the YJB to resolve the issues relating to the out of court disposals 
inspection category. The committee was reminded that the Children First initiative had 
received a commendation in the Howard League for Penal Reform Community Awards 
Restorative Approaches category (November 2019).

3.4 The committee was informed that a number of other youth offending services had also 
‘pushed back’ on their inspection outcome. 

3.5 In response to questions the Head of Service was clear that it was not a case of ‘having our 
head in the sand’. Children First was making a real difference to the lives of young people, 
successfully diverting them away from the youth justice system. The Head of Service 
acknowledged that the service had not got it right in one of the cases looked at during the 
inspection. The Improvement Plan acknowledged the recommendations made by the 
Inspectors and the committee agreed that it would follow up on progress against the 
Improvement Plan in 6 months. 

3.6 It was also explained that Children First has the ACEs checklist embedded in the system, 
and that everyone involved has received ACEs training. Whilst a trauma informed approach 
was an integral part of practice the service was always looking at how this could be 
improved/developed. 

3.7 Whilst acknowledging the positive aspects of the Children First initiative, there was a 
concern as to the impact on the local community; were we leaving the community 
vulnerable, did we ask the local community for their view, did this approach work for the 
community as well as the offenders? Members acknowledged that the low reoffending rate 
indicated that the impact on the local community was being managed. The Head of Service 
assured members that victims were at the heart of Children First and that that it worked 
closely with Victim Support and Restorative Gloucestershire 
(http://www.restorativegloucestershire.co.uk/). Officers also worked with the community 
safety partnerships in the county, and regularly engaged with communities to ensure that 
their voice was heard. 

3.8 There was a concern from some members as to the potential impact of a change 
(perceived hardening) in the governments approach to offending behaviour. It was 
suggested that working to a more target based system did not chime with best practice with 
regard to positive outcomes for young people. If the process was not about putting children 
first then we should be pushing back.

3.9 The committee suggested that the DCS contact the LGA with regard to its concerns 
regarding the inspection framework. However the DCS informed the committee that he was 
confident with the measures already taken and that this matter was now being 
discussed/addressed by HMIP and the Youth Justice Board (YJB). They were of the view 
that the LGA would only be able to refer the matter to the YJB which the council, at the 
highest level, has already done. Cllr Lesley Williams informed the committee that she was 
a member of the LGA Children and Young People Board and would ask questions on this 
matter at that body. 

Page 2

http://www.restorativegloucestershire.co.uk/


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

3.10 A committee member, who worked in the youth justice system as a lawyer, expressed the 
view that this was a difficult position for the scrutiny committee. On the one hand this was a 
report critical of the council, but on the other we know that this report did not reflect was 
what actually happening. They, and other committee members, were concerned as to the 
impact of this outcome on the morale of staff members. It was important that Children First 
was set against what had been in place previously, and the difference that it made to the 
lives of young people. They emphasised that this was brave and imaginative work that 
supported good outcomes for young people. They expressed the view that it would be 
important not to allow this report to set this work off course.

3.11 The committee agreed that thanks should be sent everyone involved in the work of 
Children First and that it be clear that committee members supported this work. The Head 
of Service thanked the committee for its appreciation and support of this work. They 
informed members that this would mean a lot to staff; this has been a difficult time for them.

3.12 In response to a question related to sick leave the DCS informed members that work was 
underway to bring teams together in larger settings to improve resilience. If critical posts 
were affected then they would be back filled with agency workers.

4. JOINT ADDITIONAL NEEDS STRATEGY 
4.1 The Director of Education and the Head of Service for Children with Additional Needs gave 

a detailed presentation of what was planned/in place to support and improve outcomes for 
vulnerable children. (The presentation slides were uploaded to the council’s website and 
included in the minute book.)

4.2 The presentation was clear that against a backdrop of increasing independence, schools 
autonomy and reduction of council control of schools the three key roles for the council in 
education were: -
 That high quality places were available in the right places that met the aspirations of 

families and which reflect the continuum of need, 
 To improve outcomes for vulnerable children and those with additional needs,
 To champion the needs of children and young people so that there was an inclusive 

learning system for all.

4.3 The presentation detailed the council’s approach and the required outcomes. It was also 
explained how the Additional Needs Strategy connected into the core strategies (school 
improvement, SEND commissioning, high needs, post 16 and place planning). The 
approaches included a ‘team around the school’, embedding ACEs/trauma informed 
approached into systems, and establishing a Future Me Ambassador group.

4.4 The committee was informed that the cost pressures were significant. A £10m overspend 
for 2019/2020 was forecast; the in-year position was already at £6m. The reasons for this 
were discussed and included that we now seeing an earlier identification of needs, and the 
high number of children with an EHCP (Education, Health and Care Plan) coming into the 
system - an increase of circa 350 per year; 224 of these cases being in specialist 
placements. Expansion of special school placements was underway and a new special 
school would be in place in 2021; the new school would also help to reduce the number of 
out of county placements. Additional funding challenges related to the fact that young 
people with SEND would now be supported until the age of 25.

4.5 It was explained that although the number of exclusions overall were starting to reduce, it 
was important to note that a greater proportion of those excluded have SEND, and that in 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

the primary sector 100% of exclusions were children with SEND. More children with SEND 
were also being taken out of school and educated at home; parents did not have to report 
to the local authority that they are home educating, or why.  

4.6 In response to questions the position relating to the Communication and Interaction 
Centres was explained. It was also agreed that committee members would visit these 
settings in order to gain a greater understanding of the work undertaken.

4.7 The committee was informed that the Inclusion Charter would support and inform a 
consistent approach across all settings. However it was important to note that there were 
challenges around inclusion; it was hoped that the shift in the Ofsted Inspection Framework 
to look at the outcomes for vulnerable pupils would make a difference in this regard. The 
Director of Children’s Services (DCS) informed the committee that an additional challenge 
related to the fact that the local authority (LA) could not direct an Academy to take a child 
with EHCP. The LA could name a school but had no power to enforce; the LA would have 
to approach the Secretary of State for Education who could enforce. In essence the LA was 
held accountable for places but did not have sufficient powers to enforce them. 

4.8 There was concern with regard to the significant budget challenges. The Director of 
Corporate Resources agreed that this was a worrying position to be in, and was of the view 
that the government would have to do something big to help local authorities. 

4.9 The Director of Education informed the committee that we could be proud of what has been 
achieved with regard to accountability. The Strategy has identified targets to be achieved 
and the committee would be able to monitor these; the business plans were also available 
to members. This work also linked into the Transitions Strategy which the committee had 
already agreed to follow up on later this year with the Adult Social Care and Communities 
Scrutiny Committee.

4.10 Committee members welcomed the aspirations of the strategy but were aware that some 
parents struggled with the process, and felt that for some parents whatever we did would 
never be enough. The Head of Service acknowledged that we did receive negative 
feedback from parents and that this was why we had further developed the Parent Carer 
Forum; parental satisfaction surveys were also used, and a quality assurance framework 
was also in place. 

4.11 The Head of Service informed the committee that we had not been good at co-production 
with young people in this area and this was why the Future Me Ambassadors group was 
being established.

4.12 In response to questions the DCS explained that it was difficult to present competitive data 
as some local authorities used differing funding mechanisms, and most of the data 
collected locally did not have national comparators. They stated that it was important to 
focus on outcomes. 

4.13 The DCS also agreed that it could be that some parents could find it difficult to complain as 
they would be concerned that there could be a negative impact on their child. However we 
did consider the anonymous complaints received and included the information in a thematic 
review of complaints. They informed members that restorative practice facilitators could 
also support parents through the complaints process.

4.14 It was questioned as to what was done to educate our mainstream cohort on these issues. 
The Head of Service explained that it was all about quality teaching and creating an 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

inclusive environment; primary schools were particularly good at this. However, secondary 
schools were not doing as well; they saw the behaviour not the possible underlying 
problem (it was possible that a child had not been diagnosed). Conferences were 
scheduled for later this month with schools and education and health professionals; these 
issues would be discussed/debated. 

5. REVENUE MONITORING 
5.1 The Finance Business Partner presented the report drawing attention to, end explaining the 

reasons for, the significant overspend. As in previous reports external placements were 
identified as a significant pressure; so far in this financial year there have been 340 
external placements provided. 

5.2 The committee was informed that the over-spend against external placements would result 
in the Meeting the Challenge (MTC) savings not being achieved and also the home to 
school transport saving of £0.15 million. It was expected that home to school transport 
costs would continue to increase. This related to the need to retender some routes (where 
the provider has terminated the agreement) and there have also been changes to 
entitlements. 

5.3 In response to a question the Director of Corporate Resources explained that the cost of 
external placements was more to do with the complexity of the cases rather than 
challenges in the market. They also explained that we were not a massive outlier with 
regard to the numbers of children in our care. It was also stated that it would be 
oversimplifying the situation to say that there was a failure in the market; this was also a 
national issue. It was about holding your nerve, getting improvements in practice and better 
strategies in place; knowing what we needed to do. The Director also detailed the process 
for how the budget was set.

5.4 The Director of Children’s Services (DCS) stated that the situation with regard to external 
placements was in part a failure by the council to manage the market. The Sufficiency 
Strategy and the development of Trevone House would support improvements in this area 
and most importantly look to improve the quality of support to our children in care. 

5.5 In response to questions the DCS explained that the high needs and unregulated 
placement panels reviewed cases on a monthly basis to identify whether placements were 
delivering value for money and met the needs of the individual. In response to concerns 
committee members were assured that the child’s best interests were the primary 
consideration. 

5.6 The committee agreed that it was important to ensure the right balance between being 
responsible with tax payers money and ensuring that our children in care were properly 
supported. The DCS explained that there was still some work to be done with social 
workers  to instil better financial awareness, and discussed a recent case to illustrate this 
point.

6. COMMITTEE WORKPLAN 

The committee noted the workplan.

CHAIRPERSON

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

Meeting concluded at 12.58 pm

Page 6



1

Children and Families Scrutiny Committee

Report Title Progress report on the work of the Gloucestershire 
Improvement Board.

Purpose of 
Report

To brief the Committee on the work of the Board over the last 
months, to highlight progress and areas where further work is 
required.

Is this for 
information 
or decision?

For information.

Author Andrew Ireland - Independent Chair of the Improvement 
Board

Key Issues:  

To report on the progress in the work of the Board, the role of the Chair and 
the cross-partnership aspects of the work. In addition to reflect upon 
developments within the service, performance improvements and to highlight 
the critical areas where progress is needed in order to secure the sustainable 
improvements sought.

Recommendations to the Committee: 

To note the report.

Financial/Resource Implications: 

There are no new financial implications directly contained within the report.

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



2

1. Introduction

1.1. This report is prepared for the committee meeting on 16 July. It is my first report 
to the Committee since January 2020 due to the extraordinary arrangements 
with the Covid emergency. I am pleased to have this opportunity to provide the 
Committee with this report.

1.2. I am able to reassure the Committee that the Improvement Board and myself as 
Chair have remained as fully active as possible in the circumstances. The 
Board has met virtually on three occasions over the past months and I have 
continued to interview and consult staff and partners about the improvement 
process. This has all been virtual and by telephone. The Committee needs to be 
clear that my last actual visit to Gloucestershire was in February for the meeting 
of the Improvement Board. 

2. Activity

2.1. In the period since my last report there has continued to be a significant level of 
activity including:

 Four meetings of the Improvement Board
 Regular discussion with the Director of Children’s Services
 Similar with the Cabinet Member
 Meetings with the Chief Executive
 Continued discussion with external partners on the Board, in particular the 

CCG and the Police
 Meetings with front line staff and managers at the Forest of Dean, 

Cheltenham and Cotswold localities
 Discussions with the Interim Director of Safeguarding
 Regular conversations with the new DFE Improvement Manager
 Meetings with the Directors and managers leading quality assurance and 

directing improvement work
 Discussions with Heads of Service in the three localities mentioned above 

plus Gloucester.
 A virtual meeting with the Ambassadors
 Reviewing the Covid arrangements
 Receipt and examination of reports including the Performance and Quality 

Assurance Reports.

3. Context

3.1. At the time of my last report to the Committee, pre Covid, the Service was 
facing imminent inspection and my judgement was that, although there was 
some progress, it was neither sufficiently fast or consistent for me to be able to 
offer the level of assurance I would have wished about a successful outcome of 

Page 8



3

that inspection. I talked again about the need for a more consistently forensic 
attention to the detail of social work practice. 

3.2. Clearly the world has moved on significantly from that position with the 
intervention of the emergency and as a result of “lockdown”. As a consequence 
of this, Ofsted have suspended routine inspection activity. The timeframe for 
future inspection has, therefore, become much less certain and the Council 
appears to have a longer period of time in which to accelerate the pace of 
change. At the time of writing it is very difficult to predict when an inspection 
might take place. 

3.3. What did occur was an additional, unexpected, monitoring visit from Ofsted in 
February. Feedback from this was available for the February Improvement 
Board meeting. The message from Ofsted appeared to be substantially the 
same as previous visits but there were some specific areas of concern raised 
alongside continued issues about the pace of progress. It is also the case that 
the tone of the feedback was less encouraging and conveyed a greater level of 
concern on the part of the Regulator. This rightly was a cause of concern for the 
Board.

3.4. As the Committee will be only too aware, shortly after this the need to move into 
Covid emergency arrangements occurred which has left the Service with two 
huge challenges. The first being to re-focus delivery to operate within the 
emergency regulations whilst also ensuring that children were seen and 
protected, new referrals appropriately followed through and children’s plans 
continuing to be taken forward. The second has been to ensure that the 
improvements in practice which are needed not only continue but do so more 
rapidly. This remains the challenge. 

4. Progress

4.1. As has, I am sure, been reported by the Service, new working arrangements 
have been set up and appear in practical terms to be working well. Staff are 
reporting to me that the communication is effective, the technology has worked 
consistently and working from home appears not to be presenting great 
problems for a large proportion of staff. My contacts with staff also have not 
revealed a high level of anxiety about the arrangements within offices for those 
staff who have to be there on any given day. Both the activity data and the 
anecdotal comments from staff suggest that visits are being made and referrals 
are being responded to in a timely way.

4.2. This has represented an enormous effort on the part of the Service to both set 
these up and to maintain them. It has been assisted by the fact that fewer staff 
than might have been expected have either been ill themselves or have had to 
self-isolate.

4.3. Again, as the Committee will know, this period has also seen the retirement of 
the Director of Safeguarding and the appointment of an Interim Director. This 
transition appears to have been relatively smooth, helped by the fact that the 

Page 9



4

now Interim Director was already working in the Service as part of practice 
improvement. As Chair I have had a number of conversations with her and am 
encouraged by her overall approach, her analysis of where the strengths and 
weaknesses lay and her appreciation of the pace needed to move the position 
forward. My wider consultations have not given me cause for concern that 
people may not be accepting the changes that follow. Indeed, I detect a clearer 
sense of unity and purpose amongst the management group. My discussions 
with the Board members suggest a significant degree of confidence in the 
approach being taken.

4.4. Without doubt the report from the last Ofsted Monitoring Visit raised questions 
and concerns within the Improvement Board. One of the consequences of this 
has been a refreshing of the Accelerated Improvement Plan. This is now a more 
focused plan, more grounded in the detail of practice with clearer actions, 
targets and clearer lines of accountability contained within it. This has offered a 
degree of greater assurance for the Board which has expressed the view that 
the plan is very much on the right lines and it is fully supported.

4.5. There have also been changes to the quality assurance system largely as a 
result of the Covid arrangements. For the initial months the normal case audit 
system was suspended. It has been up and running again from June onwards. 
This has not, however, led to a complete gap in audit activity but more targeted, 
specific audits into areas such as permanency planning, child protection 
planning and repeat planning. These have been extremely valuable and the 
audit reports have been recently shared with me. 

4.6. Although they reveal some significant weaknesses in practice over a period of 
time, these serve to reinforce the knowledge arising from the routine audits in 
terms of the areas of practice which are leading to judgements of inadequate or 
requiring improvement to be good in the cases which have been audited. These 
thematic audits are not, however, providing huge encouragement that quality of 
work has markedly improved but are providing some greater depth of 
understanding of where some of the more specific areas of weaker practice lie. 
This all needs to be seen in the context of the regular QA reports continuing to 
highlight a higher number of cases judged to be inadequate than is acceptable.

4.7. On a more positive note the same reports continue to demonstrate that there is 
a significant and consistent body of work that can be judged as of a good 
standard and that within the targeted audit work some of the most recent work 
appears to have been meeting the standards needed to a greater degree. The 
Committee will also want to note that one of the targeted audits was carried out 
by one of the Council’s Partners in Practice, so there has been a clear external 
eye at work. The Board will be looking for the outcomes of the June audits with 
anticipation. 

4.8. The last few months has also seen a different level of engagement from DFE 
which will also be featuring on the Committee’s agenda. This report will not 
attempt to duplicate that but it may be of interest to the Committee to know that 
there has also been an increase in the degree of communication between 
myself as Chair of the Improvement Board and DFE. In large measure that 

Page 10



5

direct communication has suggested a broadly shared analysis of the current 
position and the pace of change between us.

4.9. The Improvement Board has also met monthly since April. There is a further 
additional meeting planned for July. It will be my recommendation that monthly 
meetings should continue for the foreseeable future.

5. Analysis

5.1. As the Committee will have picked up from all of the reports it is considering at 
this meeting, there has been a considerable level of activity since my last report 
in January. All of it has been of great importance. In addition to any 
improvement work, the effectiveness of the arrangements the Service has made 
to deal with the Covid emergency and how quickly it was able to put them in 
place, are themselves strong indicators of its overall health and the quality of 
leadership supported by the wider Council. This needs to be effectively 
represented when inspection finally comes. All of this does, however, leave the 
question of what is the level and rate of progress with improvement?

5.2. The answer to this question in one sense is that there is not a great deal of 
evidence to date of a sustained improvement. If we look at the February Ofsted 
Monitoring visit, the targeted audit information, the QA reports and the 
Performance reports the picture is very much the same as in previous reports to 
the Committee. The data available so far suggests a similar pattern of variability 
in practice, a too high proportion of inadequate practice, some performance 
indicators which stubbornly refuse to move in the right direction. These points 
are to a degree balanced by a number of performance indicators in areas such 
as timeliness of visits, speed of dealing with referral, keeping in touch with Care 
Leavers and many others which stand comparison with other local authorities. 
As the Committee will be very well aware this would have described the position 
for some months prior to the recent emergency situation and which I have 
reflected in previous reports

5.3. Having said that, there does seem greater grounds for optimism than such an 
analysis would suggest. As evidenced by the revised Accelerated Improvement 
Plan, there is a clearly strengthened focus on the detail of social work practice 
and a clearer vision of “what good looks like.” In addition to this, the Essentials 
training module and the Practice Fundamentals policy are clear re-statements 
of the principles of good social work practice and both appear to becoming well 
embedded into the work of practitioners, many of whom have expressed great 
enthusiasm for them.

5.4. Further to this, there is a renewed drive towards improvement evident in the 
overall management of the service. Previous reports to the Committee have 
spoken of the need for such a drive and a focus upon forensic attention to detail 
of the minutiae of social work practice. There is greater evidence of this now 
than at the time of my last report and, I would suggest, at the time of the last 
Ofsted Monitoring Visit. Much of this is based upon the drive and the focus on 

Page 11



6

this detail on the part of the Interim Director of Safeguarding and real strength 
within the Improvement Team. 

5.5. One of the strongest, specific example of this is the focus on quality control as 
well as quality assurance, a real drive to ensure that poor quality of work is dealt 
with and improved in the initial stage as opposed to identified as such at audit 
when a poor judgement is unavoidable. This emphasis, if embedded into 
everyday practice will make a huge difference and must be expected to lead to 
improved standards of practice. Added to this is the greater understanding 
through audit and other quality assurance work of specific areas of practice 
which need to be addressed in this way, areas such as:

 permanency planning for children in care 
 repeat work in the child protection arena, including decision making at 

case conferences
 evidence of oversight and supervision
 improvements in recording
 stability of placement for children in care
 reducing the number of changes of social worker a child may experience.

5.6. All of these points are clearly within the Service’s line of sight and in such a 
fashion to be engendering a stronger sense of confidence that improvements 
will be achieved.

5.7. Further the speed and robustness to date of the emergency service 
arrangements which have been put into place do give an indication of the 
strength and resilience which exists within the Service. Nothing is, of course, 
perfect, but to date there would seem to be much that is positive to have come 
out of this experience. These remarks would include the setting up of the virtual 
court which, in my view, represents a major achievement and worth of note, 
although perhaps the judiciary’s views are of greater significance.

6. Summary and Conclusion

6.1. The Committee is faced with the position where it is difficult to present a clear 
line of evidence of an increasing pace of and strength of improvement. There is, 
however, grounds for greater optimism than this suggests. The hope is that this 
is a matter of timing and that the impact of the changes that are being made will 
become apparent within the audit and performance reports. There is a sense of 
confidence that this will be the case in time and it is of great importance that the 
Director receives all of the support available to ensure that the anticipated 
service improvement occurs. 

6.2. The Committee can have confidence that the direction of travel is the right one 
and the emphasis and targeted areas are in line with what needs to happen. 
What is less easy to be confident about is how long it will be before the Service 
reaches the consistent level of good practice that all wish to see but the signs 
are definitely more encouraging than at the time of my last report. How this 

Page 12



7

position may fit with any inspection timetable is a consideration on which it is 
difficult to comment at this time for the reasons stated previously.

6.3. The Improvement Board continues to work extremely hard to support this 
direction of travel. Multi agency working is reported to be strong in spite of the 
additional pressures of the last few months. Schools not being fully open has 
had an impact but the Council has worked hard to achieve numbers of 
vulnerable children attending school during the emergency. One should expect 
a surge in demand, however, when schools are fully functioning again.

6.4. The Board is in full support of the current direction of travel and recognises the 
need for clear pace and drive to achieve the improvements needed. That 
recognition is shared by the senior leadership of the Service and the Committee 
should recognise a stronger degree of optimism and confidence in a positive 
outcome than possibly existed at the time of the last report.

Andrew Ireland
Independent Chair of Children’s Improvement Board.

    

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Ofsted 
Piccadilly Gate 
Store Street 

Manchester 
M1 2WD 

T  0300 123 1231 
Textphone  0161 618 8524 

enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 
www.gov.uk/ofsted  

 

Ofsted is proud to use recycled paper 
 
 
 
 

 
12 March 2020 
 
Mr Chris Spencer 
Director of Children’s Services 
Shire Hall 
Westgate Street 
Gloucester 
Gloucestershire 
GL1 2TP 
 
 
 
Dear Mr Spencer 
 
Monitoring visit of Gloucestershire children’s services 
 
This letter summarises the findings of the monitoring visit to Gloucestershire 
children’s services on 18 February 2020. The visit was the eighth monitoring visit 
since the local authority was judged inadequate in March 2017. The visit was carried 
out by Joy Howick and Nigel Parkes, Her Majesty’s Inspectors. 
 
Although this visit highlighted improvements in some aspects of the services 
provided to children, the local authority is taking too long to address critical 
weaknesses that were identified at the inspection in March 2017. Improvements in 
some parts of the service, where leaders have provided focused attention, are 
showing early signs of success. This is more evident in the safeguarding teams than 
in other parts of the service. However, the quality of support provided to children in 
need of help and protection remains inconsistent. This means that not all children 
get the help and support they need promptly.  
 
Areas covered by the visit 
 
During this visit, inspectors reviewed the progress made in the area(s) of: 
 

◼ the timeliness of social work visits to see children  

◼ the effectiveness of assessment, planning and interventions for children in 
need of help and protection, including disabled children  

◼ the quality of management oversight, challenge and staff supervision in these 
services 

◼ the accuracy and quality of performance management information used by 
senior managers to oversee practice, and how effectively it is used to improve 
outcomes for children.   

  

Page 15

file:///C:/Users/jhowick/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/IE/OGNEI1I7/enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
file:///C:/Users/jhowick/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/IE/OGNEI1I7/www.gov.uk/ofsted


 
 

 

 

Overview 
 
The senior leadership team demonstrates that it is determined to improve services 
for children. However, it has been two years since the previous inspection, which 
found services to be inadequate, and it is taking too long to address the critical 
weaknesses. Where changes have been made, they are very recent, and improved 
areas remain fragile. Senior leaders and managers have recognised the need to re-
focus their attention. They have taken appropriate steps to ensure that they have a 
full understanding of the issues in the quality of current practice, but this has not led 
to sufficient direct improvements.  
 
The quality of intervention provided to children is too inconsistent. Managers are not 
always effective in responding to shortfalls in practice, or in acting to prevent 
children’s situations from worsening. The timeliness of visits to children has 
improved, but there is still much work to do to ensure that visits are purposeful and 
give workers a sense of the child’s experiences. Consequently, not all children get 
the help they need at the earliest point, and some are left in situations of risk for too 
long. 
 
Senior leaders and managers have focused time and resources on creating a better 
environment, where children can receive an improved service, and with fewer 
changes of social workers. They have had some success in stabilising the workforce 
and in maintaining social work caseloads at a manageable level. However, the impact 
of this on social work practice, and, ultimately, on the experiences of children in 
Gloucestershire, is not yet consistently evident.  
 
Findings and evaluation of progress 
 
Senior managers and leaders know their strengths and areas for improvement in 
respect of services for children in need of help and protection. The local authority’s 
improvement programme sets appropriate priorities and actions. However, there are 
not yet enough required improvements being made to practice, and what 
improvements are being made are not consistent.  
 
Senior leaders and managers use multi-layered performance management 
information to carefully track the quality of services and the impact they have on 
children. Recent improvements have supported a clearer insight on frontline practice. 
However, this is not addressing all deficits in practice, and some children are not 
getting timely help at the earliest point. 
 
Social workers and managers do not consistently meet expected social work practice 
standards for all children. For example, not all visits to children are purposeful, and 
children’s records do not consistently reflect their lived experiences. Some process 
issues have improved, particularly social workers ensuring that they make timely 
visits to children.  
 
The overall quality of assessments remains too variable. Some assessments aren’t 
clear about purpose and objectives. While there has been some progress made in 

Page 16



 
 

 

 

ensuring that assessments are timely for children, these do not always adequately 
address the impact of parents’ behaviour. For example, social workers focus too 
heavily on the needs of the adults in the family, rather than on the child’s lived 
experience. As a result, children’s needs are not always being clearly articulated, and 
subsequent plans are poor. Where assessments are stronger, they are appropriately 
detailed, child-centred and evidence some effective use of the new social work tools, 
such as the neglect guidance and Essential 2.   
 
Thresholds are appropriately applied by social workers and managers, in relation to 
cases being stepped up or down to child protection or escalated to care proceedings. 
Strategy meetings and child protection enquires are increasingly effective, and most 
are timely. However, some children wait too long for an initial child protection 
conference. This delay is a decline in performance. Children do receive a service 
during this period of delay to safeguard them. However, they do not have the benefit 
of a child protection plan at the earliest point.  
 
Children’s views are not yet consistently represented in child protection conference 
minutes. At reviews, child protection chairs do not adequately address or effectively 
escalate a lack of progress in some children’s plans. The quality of plans remains 
variable. Some are detailed and include appropriate actions that address identified 
needs. However, some do not include dates for key actions to be completed by, and 
include jargonistic language that is not easy for other professionals or families to 
understand. Contingencies are not routinely considered. This makes it difficult to 
track children’s progress, leading to drift and delay in helping children’s 
circumstances to improve at the pace needed.  
 
Overall, the quality of practice for disabled children has declined since the last 
inspection. This team is currently under pressure due to the recent high turnover of 
staff, including managers, leading to too many changes of social workers. Children’s 
plans do not address children’s needs effectively. Management oversight does not 
challenge poor practice, such as the lack of improvement being made to children’s 
circumstances or the delay in the interventions provided to support families. The 
impact on brothers and sisters of living with a disabled child is not always fully 
considered, and therefore is not addressed within planning. Transition planning for 
children with disabilities starts too late, creating uncertainty for all involved. 
 
Improvements in some parts of the service, where leaders have provided focused 
attention, are showing early signs of success. This is more evident in the 
safeguarding teams than in other parts of the service. In these teams, social workers 
visit children more regularly and demonstrate persistence and professional curiosity 
in their practice. In addition, planning for children in these teams is improving, and 
there are some more recent plans that are of a better quality. Further work is 
required to ensure that plans identify desired outcomes, that timescales and 
responsibilities for actions and objectives are measurable, and that all children have 
an up-to-date plan. Nevertheless, too much variability is still evident across the 
service.  
  

Page 17



 
 

 

 

Supervision is still not of sufficient quality and lacks critical challenge and reflection 
to support good practice. As a consequence, management oversight and supervision 
are not effective in ensuring that children’s circumstances improve within reasonable 
timescales.  
 
The local authority has continued to make progress in recruiting and retaining a 
permanent workforce. Staff turnover continues to reduce. As a result, there has 
been a decline in the number of children who experience a change of social worker, 
but this is still a feature in too many children’s lives. This has led to drift and delay in 
progressing some children’s plans. Consequently, children’s circumstances do not 
always improve quickly enough. 
 
Both the vacancy numbers and rates have significantly reduced over the past 12 
months. However, the number of vacancies across the service has increased due to 
the creation of new posts to provide additional capacity. This has resulted in the 
continuing use of a high proportion of agency social workers, at 32%, which means 
that the workforce remains fragile.  
 
Social workers have more manageable caseloads, and the morale in the teams is 
improving. Staff feel well supported by visible and approachable leaders and 
managers. Staff value the opportunities they have for their professional development 
from Gloucestershire children’s services. The assessed and supported year in 
employment programme provides a series of well-trained and motivated 
professionals, who are carefully supported into their first year of social work. The 
local authority has invested in this programme as a key strand of their work to 
strengthen recruitment and retention going forward.    
 
I am copying this letter to the Department for Education. This letter will be published 
on the Ofsted website.  
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
Joy Howick  
Her Majesty’s Inspector 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 18



GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CHILDREN’S SERVICES
CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE PRACTICE IMPROVEMENT UPDATE REPORT 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
16th July 2020

1.0 Introduction

1.1 This report was originally prepared and presented to the Children’s Improvement Board in May 
2020 by the Interim Director (Children’s Safeguarding and Care). The report has three Appendices 
including the Accelerated Improvement Plan (AIP), Improvement Activity Grid and the Practice 
Fundamentals Tool. The AIP has since been further updated and presented to the June 2020 
Improvement Board and this version is now attached to this report at Appendix A. 

1.2 Due to the continued absence of the substantive Director (Children’s Safeguarding and Care) from 
February 2020 onwards and as a result of significant challenges posed by the emergence of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, interim leadership arrangements were put in place from 30 March 2020 for 
an initial three month period. The substantive Director has since retired and the Interim Director 
has given a commitment to continue in this role up to the next Ofsted inspection.

1.3 By the time of the May 2020 Improvement Board the interim leadership arrangements had been in 
place for eight weeks and by the time of this Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Meeting 
the interim arrangements will have been in place for fifteen weeks. During the whole of the 
intervening period children’s social care services have been subject to business continuity planning 
arrangements as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Despite the additional challenges brought 
about by the pandemic, practice improvement activity has remained a service priority and 
provided the opportunity to renew our focus on the fundamentals of practice. 

1.4 The recent change of interim leadership has provided an opportunity to refresh the practice 
improvement activity and re-double efforts to ensure the necessary focus, grip and pace to deliver 
consistently good or better social care services for children, young people and families. The 
improvement activity refresh has been an evolutionary process, building on previously agreed 
improvement priorities and activities over time. The leadership has clarity about why practice and 
performance is weak, what needs to be done to address this and are able to support and challenge 
the workforce about how the necessary changes and improvements will be made. This report 
provides an update about practice improvement activity, impact and next steps. 

2.0 Improvement planning architecture

2.1 The ‘Building the Best’ for children plan is the high level, longer term, strategic plan that was 
developed following the 2017 Ofsted inspection to get children’s social care services to ‘Good’ and 
better. As a result of targeted support by the Department for Education (DfE) and Local 
Government Association (LGA), the Children’s Services Leadership Team has recently agreed a 
proposal to develop a transformation plan for the whole of Children’s Services. This will outline a 
plan for an integrated approach to transform early years, education, early help and children’s 
social care services. If the proposed Children’s Services transformation plan receives corporate and 
political approval in due course this will supersede the ‘Building the Best’ for children plan.

2.2 The Accelerated Improvement Plan (AIP) remains the current operational plan that sets out the 
key practice improvement priorities for children’s social care services. It is acknowledged that the 

Page 19



identified practice improvement priorities must be achieved consistently and at pace in order to 
bring about the necessary impact to achieve good and better outcomes for children in need of 
support, protection and care in Gloucestershire. In so doing the service will position itself for the 
next Ofsted inspection which, it is anticipated, is likely to take place very shortly after the COVID-
19 pandemic recovery, although exactly when this will be is unclear at the present time. Whatever 
time remains between now and the future inspection provides a valuable opportunity for 
continued improvement despite additional challenges presented by the COVID-19 pandemic.

2.3 There is still considerable improvement work that is required to ensure children’s social care 
services moves out of the inadequate Ofsted judgement, into requires improvement and onto a 
good and better judgement. The weakest third of all children’s social care practice and 
performance must be addressed, especially as some of this practice has already remained 
inadequate for too long. A much more forensic approach is now in place to target activity in order 
to have the greatest impact and to make and maintain improvement for children, young people 
and families.

2.4 The AIP continues to be updated and disseminated to children’s social care staff on a monthly 
basis. To date, the monthly update of the AIP has been largely confined to senior leadership input. 
From June 2020 this will become a more inclusive process bringing together the Heads of Service 
and Improvement Advisors with relevant corporate business partners. The proposed AIP Monthly 
Review Meeting will bring the leadership and accountability for service delivery and improvement 
together to coordinate and streamline improvement activity and deliver the necessary focus, grip 
and pace that is required to deliver consistently good services.

2.5 The vision, values and behaviours underpinning service delivery and improvement will be revisited 
with the management and leadership group as part of the AIP Monthly Review Meeting. This is to 
ensure that the corporate values of accountability, integrity, empowerment, respect and 
excellence are understood and reflected in practice, management and leadership. Preliminary 
discussions have already begun with the DfE Social Care Advisor who has agreed to facilitate this 
initiative.

3.0 Accelerated Improvement Planning 

3.1 The latest refresh of the AIP for April 2020 can be found at Appendix A. This refresh incorporates 
additional thematic improvement actions as they relate to safeguarding and permanence practice 
and these details are outlined in the last two sections of the AIP.

3.2 There are a number of vehicles that contribute to the delivery of the AIP, including the 
Improvement Activity Grid, the Essentials 2.0 and 3.0 Programmes and the new Practice 
Fundamentals Tool. The updated position regarding each of these is outlined below. 

3.3 The Improvement Activity Grid (IAG), found at Appendix B, sets out the details of the improvement 
work plans for each of the Improvement Advisors who are leading and supporting specific 
improvement activities across the service. The improvement activity is led and coordinated by a 
lead independent improvement consultant working closely with the Director (Children’s 
Safeguarding and Care). In this way the improvement agenda remains at the heart of practice and 
core service delivery. 

3.4 The IAG planning ensures the prioritisation, sequencing and dependencies for the improvement 
activity undertaken with individuals, specific teams, service areas and across the department as a 
whole. 

Page 20



3.5 A Children’s Services Improvement Executive meeting continues to be convened on a weekly basis 
so that senior leaders and the lead improvement consultant can share information, review activity, 
progress and impact evidence, problem solve together and make decisions about next steps. 

3.6 The detail of the refreshed AIP for April 2020 in respect of activity, impact and next steps is set out 
in the remainder of this report from points numbered 4.0 to 11.0 below.

4.0 Quality of Practice – emphasising quality control as well as quality assurance activity

4.1 The 2019/20 quarter 4 core audit findings reported that 1% of the practice was outstanding; 28% 
was good; 51% required improvement to be good and 20% was inadequate. Over time, the 
proportion of work judged to be good and better has increased and the rate of work rated as 
inadequate has decreased. Despite this positive trajectory, the overall proportion of good or 
better practice is not yet sufficient and the pace of progress has been too slow. 

4.2 The key findings and learning arising from the core audit programme have provided consistent 
messages over time and refer to the need for core social work practice to be performed 
consistently well to bring impact and deliver improved outcomes for children, young people and 
their families. To achieve this everyone in the service must be accountable on an individual and 
collective basis. This requires a shift in focus of quality assurance activity so that there is a greater 
emphasis on controlling the quality of practice. Accountability and quality control have become 
increasingly dominant features of local improvement activity. Without that emphasis it is highly 
likely that the impact of quality improvement activity will be impaired and future quality assurance 
activity will simply continue to report the same or very similar findings, with the pace of progress 
not maximised.  

4.3 In order to accelerate impact and address the overall proportion of practice that remains 
inadequate, as well as practice that requires improvement to become good, the focus has had to 
shift in order to focus on improving quality control. This is necessary to ensure that practitioners 
will hold themselves to account and take active steps to control the quality of their practice. In the 
same way, managers will hold themselves and their supervisees to account by controlling the 
quality of their supervision and management oversight - and will stop signing off or authorising 
any practice that does not meet the required standard. 

4.4 To ensure practitioners and managers are consistently and comprehensively supported to 
recognise features of good practice so that they can control the quality of their work a new 
Practice Fundamentals Tool has been launched. This can be found at Appendix C. There are four 
key points about the Practice Fundamentals which have informed the communications launch 
strategy and include consideration of the provenance, accountability, connectivity and 
sustainability of this approach. These have been communicated with all staff as part of the launch 
process which occurred on 22 May 2020.  These changes are also captured in a substantial revision 
of our Quality Assurance and Performance Management Framework (May 2020).

4.5 In terms of provenance, research indicates that on an improvement journey to becoming a ‘Good’ 
or ‘Outstanding’ local authority, the starting and finishing points should be firmly fixed on the 
basics of practice.  In Gloucestershire we have drawn these basics together into the ‘Practice 
Fundamentals’ Tool.  The Practice Fundamentals have been compiled from what we already know 
and have learnt including GCC’s Practice Standards (which are drawn from national best practice, 
Ofsted guidance and local learning), the Essentials Programme principles, the Post-Qualifying 
Statements (the Knowledge and Skills Statements from the DfE National Assessment an 
Accreditation System), our Performance and Quality Assurance frameworks and local 
improvement lessons. 

4.6 In terms of purpose, as the Practice Fundamentals are the ‘bottom-lines’ or ‘givens’ of good 
professional practice, a simple tool, or aide memoire, to enable staff to compare practice against 

Page 21



to ensure that they are meeting the expectations of the profession and delivering good social work 
with local children, young people and families.  As staff deliver work directly with children and 
families, arrive at decisions, and finalise recording, they become individually and collectively 
accountable for it.  As accountable professionals, practitioners and managers will ensure that they 
are meeting these Practice Fundamentals in pursuit of good outcomes for children, young people 
and families.  Until practice meets these expectations managers should not be signing off and 
putting their name, and the name of Gloucestershire County Council, to it.

4.7 In terms of connectivity, the Practice Fundamentals will increasingly be a central point of focus.  As 
such, they connect to local initiatives like ‘Language that Cares’, the development and delivery of 
future Academy learning, the Essentials 2.0 Programme and the new Essentials 3.0 Programme, 
plus the actions arising from GSCE Serious Case Reviews. Their use will be encouraged in 
supervision as staff reflect on practice, and future thematic Quality Assurance activity will be 
connected to them.  They should be the ‘touchstone’ that practitioners and managers keep 
coming back to.

4.8 In terms of sustainability, as mentioned above, the basics of social work practice remains the focus 
for improving authorities even when they are rated ‘Good’ and ‘Outstanding’.  The Practice 
Fundamentals will therefore remain a priority in Gloucestershire for many years to come. They are 
already woven throughout the refreshed improvement planning activity, and will be pivotal within 
continuing professional development and career progression.

5.0 Essentials 2.0 and 3.0 Programmes

5.1 To date, quality assurance activity focusing on the evidence of the Essentials 2.0 Programme in 
practice, confirms that where this is being properly applied by practitioners, and reinforced by 
managers, good quality practice is achieved. The plan is for the Essentials 2.0 Programme to 
continue for all new starters and staff needing refresher sessions. Unfortunately, due to COVID-19, 
delivery of the programme was interrupted but will be resumed on a remote basis as our IT 
systems improve and confidence in delivery is secured. To date, a total of 304 (69.72%) out of 436 
staff have completed all three of the Essentials 2.0 Programme modules and 373 (85.55%) of 436 
staff have completed all or some of the Essentials 2.0 Programme modules.

5.2 The Essentials 2.0 Programme methodology and use of the Essentials Tools have been very well 
received by practitioners and managers. Based on feedback and learning to date the Social Work 
Academy, in consultation with GCC Ambassadors, where appropriate, have been developing the 
Essentials 3.0 Programme content. This focuses on parental mental ill health, substance misuse, 
domestic abuse, parental capacity for change and relational practice.  These areas have been 
highlighted in successive GSCE Serious Case Reviews as areas requiring continuous development. 
 

5.3 The Essentials 3.0 Programme modules are currently in development. The Relational Practice 
module has already been completed and is now ready for implementation.  The Social Work 
Academy is finalising arrangements to secure a remote delivery platform and is completing the 
implementation schedule ready for launch and promotion with staff. It is proposed that staff that 
have completed all three Essential 2.0 Programme modules will be prioritised for the Essentials 3.0 
Programme.

6.0 Supervision and Management Oversight

6.1 Further work has been undertaken to investigate the underlying issues regarding the poor 
casework supervision reporting which was unacceptably low at 37% in April 2020. In comparison, 
professional supervision was reported at 87% in April 2020. The interim Director (Children’s 
Safeguarding and Care) took immediate action to address casework supervision which revealed 
that a number of Team Managers were non-compliant with recording standards. Despite a 

Page 22



previous service directive to record casework supervision on the Liquid Logic supervision template 
in the ‘forms’ section, several Team Managers have continued to record casework supervision in 
the case notes section of Liquid Logic. As a result it is likely that casework supervision was 
undertaken but would not have been captured in the electronic reporting process. 

6.2 A new team by team performance report about casework supervision has now been produced and 
distributed to Heads of Service to inform discussions between them and individual Team 
Managers. Where required, ICT support has been provided. All Team Managers have been 
informed there is zero tolerance for any continuing non-compliance. It is anticipated that this will 
result in an improvement when the casework supervision report is next run. Within one week of 
the above action, as at 19 May 2020, casework supervision reporting had already improved to 
49%, although it is acknowledged that this needs to continue to improve in order to meet target.  
Formal HR performance management procedures will be considered for any Team Managers who 
continue to be non-compliant.

6.3 Children’s social care services have recently signed up to be a Phase II Pilot Site for the 
Department for Education (DfE) National Assessment and Accreditation System (NAAS).  This will 
support a focus on core social work competencies as defined by the Knowledge and Skills 
Statements (KSS) and Post Qualifying Standards (PQS) outlined by the DfE. The focus of the 
scheme is intended to support employers to raise the national standard and consistency of 
practice and improve outcomes for children. Practice endorsement processes include supervision, 
performance management and learning and development.

6.4 Individual coaching continues with a number of identified managers across the service, although 
overall coaching capacity has reduced following the recent appointment of the interim Director 
(Children’s Safeguarding and Care). The impact of coaching continues to bring focus, grip and pace 
by supporting managers to take proactive steps to achieve identified goals.

7.0 Timeliness of visits

7.1     Progress has been made and sustained regarding the timeliness of visits, including during the 
COVID-19 pandemic in April 2020. This is positive and encouraging and has been achieved through 
a concerted effort to target staff resources, embrace the value of scrutinising web reports and 
recognising how essential visiting is to ensure the safety and wellbeing of children and young 
people. 

7.2 The latest performance data is outlined below and includes the breakdown of children seen in 
person or remotely which is also positive and reassuring during the pandemic. In addition, the 
timeliness of initial s47 visits in April 2020 was 87%. The on-going challenge now is to continue to 
improve and embed visiting performance whilst ensuring that all visits are purposeful, focus on the 
experience of the child and that recording is up to date and meets a consistently good standard.

8.0 Communication – Hearts and Minds:

8.1    More recently, possibly because of the increased frequency and level of communication in relation 
to the COVID-19 business continuity planning, feedback from the children’s social care workforce 
has been more effective and dynamic. Children’s Services Bronze Group Meetings have recently 
reduced to three times a week with all Heads of Service and the Senior Leadership Team. An action 

Type of visit Performance Seen Physically    
    (in person)

Seen Remotely          
(via ICT/digital)

CIN 86% 76% 10%
CP 92% 85.5% 6.5%
CIC 96% 88% 6%

Page 23



tracker is updated at each meeting. A Silver Group Meeting takes place with the Senior Leadership 
Team twice a week.

8.2     As a result of a recent change made by the Director (Children’s Safeguarding and Care) there is 
now an extended monthly Bronze and Leadership Team Meeting which includes all Service 
Managers. Following each Bronze Group Meeting, Heads of Service convene shadow meetings 
with their respective management teams to ensure that key messages are communicated in real 
time and that any additional questions or pressures are fed back into the Bronze Group Meetings, 
and escalated if necessary and appropriate.

8.3 A corporate staff survey undertaken between 22 and 29 April 2020 confirmed that, despite initial 
uncertainty regarding the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the children’s social care services, 
79% of Children’s Services staff reported that they were working remotely. Furthermore, on a 
scale of 1 to 5 the majority of Children’s Services staff scored a 4 in terms of feeling ‘mostly 
satisfied’ with information and communication, ICT support and home working arrangements.

8.4 A COVID-19 children’s social care staff tracker has been in place since the start of the pandemic. 
This is updated on a daily basis and reviewed at every Bronze Group Meeting. The staff tracker 
currently reports a very positive position regarding staff availability for work with decreasing levels 
of overall sickness and no staff reported sickness in relation to COVID-19 symptoms. Some staff 
are shielded as a result of identified health needs and continue to work remotely.

8.5 During the COVID-19 pandemic to date, twenty three technical Briefing Notes have been issued to 
staff. These are followed up in supervision and team meetings to ensure that the detail and spirit 
of the communication is received, understood and acted upon in the manner intended. The 
Briefing Notes are used to share information about service developments and adjustments in 
relation  to a wide range of issues from visiting and keeping in touch with children and families, 
undertaking remote court care proceedings, performance and case recording, early help and 
targeted support services etc. Feedback from practitioners and managers state that these are 
clear, helpful and easy to access. 

8.6 The recent easements which have been introduced as a result of the Adoption and Children 
(Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 have largely not been applied by the local authority 
due to the resilience in the current staffing, although some reasonable adjustments have been 
necessary to ensure that certain activities are able to continue safely without risking the spread of 
COVID-19. These are mostly in relation to fostering and adoption, the latter through our Regional 
Adoption Agency, Adoption West. 

9.0 Development and Improvement of Safeguarding Provision

9.1 As already mentioned above, the AIP has been adjusted to incorporate specific thematic issues 
regarding safeguarding and permanence as these have been highlighted as critical areas of 
practice that require targeted improvement. Details of recent activity in relation to safeguarding 
are outlined below.

9.2 In respect of child protection, the end to end pathway was reviewed by the interim Director 
(Children’s Safeguarding and Care) in their former role as an independent Improvement 
Consultant. This review identified areas for improvement, particularly in respect of management 
oversight and decision making regarding the quality of requests and application of thresholds for 
convening strategy meetings, the high proportion of s47 child protection enquiries that do not 
proceed to an initial child protection conference, the timeliness of initial child protection 
conferences and the high proportion of children subject to a second and subsequent child 
protection plan. 

Page 24



9.3 Since February 2020, improved practice guidance was issued in relation to convening strategy 
meetings which now require authorisation by a Team Manager. Further scrutiny of the threshold, 
quality and decision making in relation to strategy meetings is scheduled, pending confirmation 
with relevant partners, for June 2020. Whilst recent improvements have been reported by the 
Police in informal feedback, it is anticipated that there is still further room for improvement. 

9.4 The timeliness of initial child protection conferences has improved but performance still remains 
below target. Recent analysis indicates that whilst delays were previously due to the Child 
Protection Conference Team the reason for current delays are due to the operational teams and 
the availability of family members. Heads of Service are now responsible for authorising requests 
for initial child protection conferences so that they are more accountable for controlling the 
quality, thresholds and timeliness of initial child protection conference requests. A targeted 
thematic audit is currently underway to further test the impact of the Heads of Service 
intervention.

9.5 Whilst review child protection conferences are generally timely, child protection plans need to be 
a lot SMARTer and would have more impact if there was greater focus on the child’s experience. In 
order to add scrutiny to children who have had a child protection plan for 9 months, which is the 
point of the second review child protection conference, Heads of Service are now required to 
undertake a review and pay particular attention to the impact that the child protection process 
has had to bring about meaningful change for the child. As part of this 9 month review Heads of 
Service are required to consider the need for a Legal Planning Meeting where children are likely to 
continue to suffer significant harm of abuse or neglect, especially when parents are unwilling 
and/or unable to make and sustain the necessary changes to improve the child’s outcomes. 

9.6 Hampshire Children’s Services were commissioned to undertake an independent audit to 
determine a baseline for children who have been subject to repeat child protection planning for a 
second or subsequent time. The audit process aimed to identify practice themes and issues 
through a review of the child’s electronic record. Hampshire’s audit report focuses on a sample of 
41 children, with an additional 19 siblings, giving a total audit cohort of 60 children. Although 
overall numbers vary each day there are currently 686 children subject to a child protection plan, 
of which 234 have a repeat plan for a second or subsequent time which is approximately a third of 
all children subject to a child protection plan. The table below sets out the current position 
regarding repeat child protection plans:

Repeat Child Protection Plans for a second or subsequent time (as at 19.05.2020)
Number of plans Number of Children Percentage 

1 452 65.9% 
2 195 28.4% 
3 30 4.4% 
4 7 1.0% 
5 2 0.3% 
Total 686 100.0% 

9.7 The Hampshire audit report has recently been received. The report concludes with a number of 
concerns and there are six key recommendations including a need to focus on:

 Addressing management oversight
 Reinforcing SMART planning
 Introducing three monthly case summaries
 Completing chronologies
 Using escalation

Page 25



 Repeating the audit in 6 months’ time

9.8 A mandatory meeting has been convened with Heads of Service for the Operational and Reviewing 
Services, and the Improvement Advisors on 1 June 2020. The meeting will discuss the audit 
findings and recommendations and agree appropriate remedial action which will be tracked via 
the AIP. The meeting will also focus on the internal permanence audit which is referred to below in 
point 10.0.

9.9 In terms of legal planning and court action, children’s social care has adapted very well to manage 
the impact of COVID-19 in respect of conducting court care proceedings on a remote/virtual basis. 
A considerable amount of additional activity has taken place, including extensive ICT support and 
development, to ensure that on-going care proceedings are able to progress as scheduled using 
compatible ICT platforms. Inevitably some court hearings, including contested final hearing and 
finding of fact hearings for example, will need to be postponed until after the pandemic. All new 
care proceedings are being triaged and prioritised according to what is most urgent and critical. 
Despite these difficult circumstances, we continue to issue proceedings for children identified in 
improvement work earlier this year to reduce our use of s20 of the 1989 Children Act (see below, 
10.3). A recent meeting with HH Judge Wildblood confirmed positive working relationships, 
including in relation to a recent mock trial hosted by HH Judge Wildblood for Gloucestershire 
children’s social care staff and complimentary feedback in respect of a particularly challenging set 
of care proceedings involving the legal protection of a child following the alleged murder of their 
younger sibling by the parents. A quasi court room has been established in Shire Hall and 
Cheltenham Locality to support parents to participate in remote hearings and this is proving to be 
very beneficial, though still not without some technical difficulties. 

9.10 It is anticipated that the legal protection for children will be strengthened further with input from 
an Ofsted Inspector who is seconded to children’s social care services during the COVID-19 
pandemic. The role of the seconded Ofsted inspector whilst they are working in the local authority 
will include an additional layer of scrutiny designed to improve the quality of evidence for Legal 
Planning Meetings which will hopefully streamline the process for securing legal protection for 
children. The Public Law Outline focuses on the importance of front loading the pre-proceedings 
preparation and it is anticipated that this activity will address the high proportion of Legal Planning 
Meetings that lead to no further action as a result of weak evidence and/or an inability to establish 
a legal threshold. The preparatory work for this activity has already been completed and work 
started on 18 May 2020.

10.0 Development and Improvement of Permanence Provision

10.1   A recent permanence audit was completed to test the quality and compliance of permanence 
planning for children in our care. This also determined how effectively permanence plans lead to 
timely legal, physical and emotional permanence and assessed how effective the reviewing system 
is in helping to achieve permanence. The audit report has recently been completed and will be 
addressed in the meeting already mentioned above with Heads of Services and Improvement 
Advisors scheduled for 1st June 2020. A video conference training session for Independent 
Reviewing Officers will take place on 27 May to address the findings as they relate to that role.

10.2 The audit cohort examined casework records for 59 children in care, including 16 children who had 
been in care for five to six weeks (comprising of 27% of the audit cohort and 100% of all children in 
care for length of time), plus 21 children who have been in care for five to six months (comprising 
36% of the audit cohort) and 22 children who have been in care for 12-16 months (comprising 37% 
of the audit cohort).

10.3 The quality of permanence planning found within this audit does not provide assurance of good 
practice. Recommendations include:

Page 26



 Bite-size learning programme using Practice Fundamentals
 Roadshow or webinar events
 Launch whole system permanence guidance 
 Urgently review existing tracking mechanisms 
 Undertake targeted work with the IRO service 
 Test progress by follow-up dip-sampling in three months’ time

10.4 An extensive review of all children and young people subject to Section 20 accommodation 
arrangements was undertaken by the lead Improvement Advisor in consultation with Heads of 
Service. Gloucestershire was an outlier when compared to other local authorities. The impact of 
the review has seen an overall decrease of 3% since October 2019. New section 20 entrants to 
care so far have halved in 2020 when compared to 2019, from 99 (49%) to 48 (24%).

10.5 Children whose plans were drifting or delayed have been identified for priority action. This 
included reunification home and initiating court care proceedings. At the end of March 2020, care 
proceedings had been initiated for 23 children subject to section 20 arrangements and pre-
proceedings had commenced for 17 children who were subject to section 20 arrangements. As a 
result, 19% of all children subject to section 20 arrangements were in proceedings or pre-
proceedings at the end of March 2020.

10.6 Through a further review and triage process, section 20 arrangements were confirmed for the 
remaining children. Some of these children entered care at 16 or 17 years of age although for 
many who had a history of being known to the service earlier court action should have been taken 
to secure alternative permanent care at a much younger age. Overall, by the end of March 2020 
there was evidence of improved focus, pace and management grip in that it was agreed section 20 
remained appropriate or action was being taken to end these arrangements. 

10.7 COVID-19 temporarily slowed progress as children’s social care, legal services and the courts 
adjusted to new ways of working. Court care proceedings have now however continued to be 
initiated for some children subject to section 20 arrangements in order to determine their legal, 
physical and emotional permanence. Sustained impact will be tested at a half-day session 
scheduled in June 2020 when progress will be further reviewed. Whilst there is inevitably a time 
lag before a significant drop in numbers is seen, particularly because legal planning, pre-
proceedings, care proceedings and reunification take time to conclude, it is important to note that 
there is a means to be assured that active work is underway.

10.8 Following Ofsted’s 7th monitoring visit in September 2019 a number of specific recommendations 
were made and these have been addressed, although some practice and performance has been 
impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. The April 2020 performance reports that Care Leavers with 
an up to date Pathway Plan was 88%, Care Leavers in Employment, Education and Training was 
47% and Care Leavers living in suitable accommodation was 92%. Targeted action has been taken 
to stay in touch with Care Leavers to counter the adverse impact of social isolation which many 
young people are finding particularly challenging.

10.9 Quarterly pathway planning audits for children in care and care leavers continue to be undertaken 
by the Children in Care and Care Leaving Service. The most recent quarterly audit was undertaken 
in April 2020. The audit cohort included 20 children in care and 20 care leavers aged between 11 
and 25 years of age. The audit aimed to determine the:

 Use and impact of the Pathway Planning Tool and Outcome Star

Page 27



 Use of the Essentials 2.0 Programme Anchor Principles in risk and analysis
 Quality of the plan for example SMART actions 
 Implementation of the style of writing the PWP in the first person

10.10 The April 2020 RAG rated audit outcomes are outlined below and set alongside the outcomes for 
the previous two quarters for comparison:

April 2020 Green Amber Red
Children in Care 8 (40%) 11 (55%) 1 (5%)

Care Leavers 3 (15%) 8 (40%) 9 (45%)
January 2020

Children in Care 3 (21%) 5 (35%) 6 (43%)
Care Leavers 13 (56%) 10 (43%) 0

November 2019
Children in Care 2 (9%) 10 (45%) 10 (45%)

Care Leavers 1 (4%) 14 (66%) 6 (28%)

10.11 The April 2020 pathway planning audit outcome shows a steady and continuing improvement in 
the quality of pathway plans for children in care. Pathway plans were considered to be up to date 
for 95% of children in care and 70% of pathway plans were up to date for care leavers. Writing in 
the second person can strengthen the quality of the Pathway Plan but it isn’t always necessary. 
Two of the green rated plans were written in the third person but judged to be of good quality and 
written using concise, age appropriate and clear language. Quality of pathway plans for care 
leavers was not at an acceptable standard, too many were RAG rated as Red and were therefore 
judged to be inadequate. This is deterioration from the January 2020 audit

10.12 Following Ofsted’s 8th monitoring visit in February 2020 a targeted improvement action plan has 
been developed to address the significant concerns about evidence of a decline in practice in the 
Disabled Children and Young People’s Service (DCYPS). The priority actions are designed to meet 
the standards required for all children and young people. At the time of the monitoring visit a high 
turnover of social workers and underperforming Team Managers was a particular challenge. More 
recently management and leadership have been strengthened and there is now an opportunity to 
focus on the identified performance issues which include staffing, management oversight, 
planning, intervention and transition.

11.0 Workforce performance management

11.1 In order to deliver the identified priority improvements it is important to ensure that staff receive 
appropriate support and challenge. The Director (Children’s Safeguarding and Care) has targeted 
three workforce performance management activities that are currently underway to ensure that 
specific staff issues are rigorously addressed and these include RAG rating social worker and team 
performance, supervision compliance and attendance on the Essentials 2.0 Programme.

11.2 The Performance Team continues to provide a monthly report to RAG rate individual social 
workers and teams where performance has been rated as Red / Amber for 3 plus months. The 
position regarding social worker’s individual performance has continued to improve over time. The 
RAG rating is completed across a number of priority key performance indicators. In April 2020 the 
report revealed the following position:

 14 social workers RAG rated Amber / Red for 3 + months
 26 teams RAG rated Amber / Red for 3 + months
 Of the above 26 teams, 6 teams have been RAG rated Amber / Red for 18 + months

Page 28



11.3 A performance tracker is now in place for completion by the relevant Head of Service for review 
with the Director (Children’s Safeguarding & Care) in monthly 1:1 supervision sessions. The 
Director and HR Business Partner will further review the updated tracker during monthly 
workforce review meetings. Heads of Service are required to account for the issues, actions and 
progress with individual social workers and teams. They are well placed to reflect the relevant 
history, context and intelligence, particularly in respect of legacy issues which some new starters 
and newly allocated staff are being asked to address. It would be inappropriate to penalise these 
staff for inheriting poor practice and performance but positive progress will be expected 
nonetheless. It is anticipated that where necessary formal HR procedures will continue to be 
initiated and progressed to address any capability and/or conduct issues where appropriate to do 
so.

11.4 As mentioned above, Team Manager case work supervision recording compliance is also being 
tracked and reported on a team by team basis. As some very recent improvement has already 
been noted it is anticipated that this will be an improving picture although if this is not the case 
formal HR procedures will be undertaken to address any capability and / or conduct issues where 
it is appropriate to do so.

11.5 According to pre-COVID-19 Academy records, a total of 363 staff out of a total of 436 have 
completed some or all modules in the Essentials 2.0 Programme: 304 have completed all three 
modules; 43 have completed two modules; and 26 have completed 1 module. Overall, staff who 
have completed all three modules account for 73% of the staff group. The individual staff that still 
need to complete one, two or all three of the modules are known and will be prioritised when the 
Academy virtual training programme resumes. To ensure that all staff attend the Essentials 2.0 
Programme progress will be reviewed by the Director (Children’s Safeguarding and Care) with 
Academy staff. Despite the interruption brought about by COVID-19 this remains a key focus 
moving forward.

11.6 The table below outlines the break down of staff attending the Essentials 2.0 Programme from 
each of the Locality and Service areas and highlights the numbers that have attended none of the 
modules and those that have attended one, two or all three of the modules:

12.0 Conclusion

12.1 This report provides a summary overview of the improvement activity currently underway within 
children’s social care services. It sets out the improvement architecture and leadership that is in 
place to address the practice and performance challenges to enable the service to achieve good 
and better outcomes for local children and families in Gloucestershire. 

Locality/Service Area Completed 
all 3

Completed 
2/3

Completed 
1/3

None 
completed

Gloucester (including TACS) Locality 62 5 4 22
Forest of Dean Locality 24 3 5 1
Tewkesbury Locality 24 1 2 6
Cheltenham Locality 41 8 5 6
Cotswolds Locality 20 2 1 4
Stroud Locality 28 2 3 6
11-25 Permanence Service 51 6 1 7
0-11 Permanence Service 14 2 1 4
Disabled Children & Young People’s Service 14 2 3 1
DCYPS Early Help 9 7 0 3
Child Protection & Independent Reviewing 17 4 1 3
TOTAL (Staff Group 436) 304 43 26 65

Page 29



12.2 Current practice and performance evidence and intelligence indicates that improvement activity 
must continue to focus on the agreed priorities, with a more forensic grip and accelerated pace, in 
order to bring about the nature and level of professional accountability that is required to 
consistently meet the established fundamentals of good social work practice. 

12.3 Over the past few weeks, in response to changing circumstances, the service has received new 
senior leadership, with the appointment of an interim Director for Children’s Safeguarding and 
Care, and has adapted to a new way of working, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The service 
has risen to these challenges by refreshing elements of its approach to improvement whilst 
maintaining and further developing a comprehensive range of targeted improvement activities. 

12.4 Whilst progress continues to be made it remains a challenge to embed and sustain widespread 
and consistent improvement at the pace that is required. Each day that social workers practice is 
however a day to improve outcomes for Gloucestershire’s children and families and, at the same 
time, satisfy the regulatory standards set by Ofsted. For however long the COVID-19 pandemic 
lasts this presents an opportunity for the service to re-double its efforts to deliver impact and 
achieve positive outcomes. Whilst the pandemic clearly presents new challenges this must not 
detract from the importance of sticking steadfastly to the detail of the AIP.

12.5 The mood within the children’s social care workforce at the moment is buoyant. The COVID-19 
children’s social care staff tracker continues to report diminishing levels of sickness with no staff 
absence in relation to COVID-19 symptoms. With the overall level of sickness being reduced there 
is sufficient capacity and resilience within the workforce to continue to deliver services. The threat 
of the COVID-19 pandemic appears to have promoted a level of comradery and positivity which 
provides a solid platform upon which to build. The workforce will continue to require a restorative 
approach of challenge and support to embrace the nature and level of change and improvement 
that are still required. With this in mind, the importance of corralling the workforce around a 
common purpose remains critical and the time is right to revisit the underpinning vision, values 
and behaviours, maintain positive communication and promote compelling leadership to deliver 
on the improvements that are required.

Gail Hancock
Interim Director (Children’s Safeguarding and Care)
08.07.2020.

Page 30



Appendix B – Improvement Activity Grid

Improvement priorities planning grid: 19 May 2020
AFI SAFEGUARDING Priority level H X M L
Issues Decision-making at key points, core practice; management oversight.
Evidence Performance data March 2020. Low conversion rate s47 – ICPC. Dropping ICPC – CP plan rate. High rate of re-referral.

CP system overview report Jan 2020, Ofsted MV Feb 2020, Hampshire CC report 20 April 2020. Management oversight and supervision; summaries 
and chronologies; recording of visits; thresholds for ending plans/escalating from plans; CP plans; reduced M/A work over time; lived experience of 
child; managing complexity including neglect and CSE. 

Services Safeguarding, DCYPS Teams MASH, Assessment, Safeguarding, DCYPS, CP Chairs
Improvement 
outline

Action Who? When? Delivery status Status
RAG 

Impact Impact 
RAG

Ensure there is 
good quality 
management 
oversight.

Coaching identified managers to 
strengthen MO.

SR Rolling 
programme

Resumes May 
2020

Neglect toolkit: 
improve quality 
and consistency of 
approach to 
identifying and 
responding to 
neglect.

Follow-up launch workshop to test 
impact and embed – sampling, targeted 
virtual sessions (team/service) using 
Fundamentals and appreciative 
enquiry. 

KJ/TL June/July 2020 Planning and 
design 

19.05.20 Locality 
update sessions 
delivered

Virtual sessions with all 
localities/services. 

KJ March/April 2020 Complete

Continue activities aimed at 
partnership and service development, 
including early help.

KJ with 
Commissioning

May-July 2020 Underway, on 
target.

Embed pre-birth 
protocol in GCC 
CS, ensuring 
timely and good 
quality responses 
and effective 
partnerships.

Test extent to which embedded, quality 
and impact through case sampling.

KJ/TL/KC Sept 2020 Planning 

DCYPS: respond to 
MV findings

Urgent completion and implementation 
of SMART improvement plan by HoS 
using Fundamentals principles..

SR May 2020 Second draft  
awaited from HoS. 

Revisit recs from overview report, 
cross-reference to those from Hants 
and Ofsted, complete implementation 
of process changes.

SR May 2020 Not yet underway. 
Ok for update 
report end May.

Child protection 
system: ensure 
processes and 
practice are fit for 
purpose and serve Child protection system: develop and SR/RT June 2020-Sept Practice 

P
age 31



Appendix B – Improvement Activity Grid
AFI SAFEGUARDING Priority level H X M L
Issues Decision-making at key points, core practice; management oversight.
Evidence Performance data March 2020. Low conversion rate s47 – ICPC. Dropping ICPC – CP plan rate. High rate of re-referral.

CP system overview report Jan 2020, Ofsted MV Feb 2020, Hampshire CC report 20 April 2020. Management oversight and supervision; summaries 
and chronologies; recording of visits; thresholds for ending plans/escalating from plans; CP plans; reduced M/A work over time; lived experience of 
child; managing complexity including neglect and CSE. 

Services Safeguarding, DCYPS Teams MASH, Assessment, Safeguarding, DCYPS, CP Chairs
Improvement 
outline

Action Who? When? Delivery status Status
RAG 

Impact Impact 
RAG

to protect 
children.

deliver tailored virtual Practice 
Fundamentals programmes… 
…(materials, team sessions, webinars) 
to SWs and managers.  

2020 fundamentals 
summary doc… 
…agreed.

Review and make 
identified 
improvements to 
quality of decision-
making by child 
protection 
conferences.

Thematic audit of decision-making 
including not to implement a plan and 
category. Collate findings and learning 
to inform development and 
implementation of tailored Practice 
Fundamentals and any necessary 
changes to procedures and guidance. 

RE, PR, TL, KC May 2020 Proposal 
developed as pilot. 
Fieldwork 
underway, on 
target.

Ensure new templates embedded.; SR

QA of completed LPM docs for quality, 
providing developmental feedback to 
SWs and TMs

Nicola 
Bennet

Improve the 
quality of 
reporting to legal 
planning so that 
the right decisions 
can be made at an 
early stage..

Use the learning from NB QA to 
develop and deliver materials using  
Practice Fundamentals materials and 
guidance.

SR

May-Sept 2020 
initially

NB joins May 20. 
Discussions 
underway with JM 
to confirm 
workflow. Legal 
Services support 
the initiative.  

Discharge from 
Hospital Protocol

Complete roll-out. Respond to 
inconsistent use with targeted 
briefings.

KJ June 2020 Underway, on 
target

Improve the 
quality of practice 
in Tewkesbury

Targeted audit/sampling with follow-up 
individual and team inputs including 
coaching. 

KJ, SR Continuing Performance 
improvements 
recently. Decision 
needed on 
whether to end.

P
age 32



Appendix B – Improvement Activity Grid
AFI SAFEGUARDING Priority level H X M L
Issues Decision-making at key points, core practice; management oversight.
Evidence Performance data March 2020. Low conversion rate s47 – ICPC. Dropping ICPC – CP plan rate. High rate of re-referral.

CP system overview report Jan 2020, Ofsted MV Feb 2020, Hampshire CC report 20 April 2020. Management oversight and supervision; summaries 
and chronologies; recording of visits; thresholds for ending plans/escalating from plans; CP plans; reduced M/A work over time; lived experience of 
child; managing complexity including neglect and CSE. 

Services Safeguarding, DCYPS Teams MASH, Assessment, Safeguarding, DCYPS, CP Chairs
Improvement 
outline

Action Who? When? Delivery status Status
RAG 

Impact Impact 
RAG

Implement SCR 
and DHR action 
plans

Respond to findings about practice 
through practice learning sessions in 
localities

KJ, Dave Jones Continuing Underway

Improve all 
elements of core 
practice: 
assessment, 
planning, 
purposeful 
intervention, 
recording, 
management 
oversight

Roll out Practice Fundamentals 
summary document through 
dissemination, manager briefings, staff 
briefings, using service-specific case 
examples.

RT/Academy From May 2020 Key document 
agreed. Roll-out 
not yet underway

P
age 33



Appendix B – Improvement Activity Grid
AFI CHILDREN IN CARE, PERMANENCE AND CARE LEAVERS Priority level H X M L
Issues Gateway to care (compliance and quality); s20; unregulated connected persons placements; understanding and application of permanence planning; 

sufficiency (fostering service), 
Evidence  BAU monitoring (data and processes); full audits; thematic audit (permanence)
Services Safeguarding, Permanence, Fostering Teams Permanence teams; Fostering teams
Improvement 
action

Action Who? When? Delivery status Status
RAG 

Impact Impact 
RAG

Ensure there is 
good quality 
management 
oversight.

Coaching identified managers to 
strengthen MO.

SR Rolling 
programme

Underway

Introduce HoS five-day checklist. GH May 2020 Agreed 6 May for 
immediate 
implementation in 
LL. Testing this 
week?

Develop succinct guidance for SWs and 
TMs setting out what they must do 
when a child comes into care.

GH June 2020 Not yet underway 
but will based on 
the HoS checklist 
and reflect 
Fundamentals.

Ensure entry to 
care is compliant 
with GCC and 
statutory 
requirements

Continued monitoring to ensure legal 
and procedural compliance 
including Reg 24 and 25.

GH Continuing Underway

Continued QC of approval docs.
and GCC guidance.

GH Continuing Underway

Issue reminder to staff and managers – 
compliance and quality requirements

GH May 2020 Scheduled end 
May 2020. In 
hand.

Ensure placements 
with parents 
comply with 
legislation and 
regulation.

Learn lessons from QC and use to 
inform WFD, particularly re 
assessments and plans.

GH July 2020 Not started

Reduce s20 rate 
and ensure it is 
only used where 
appropriate.

Intensive tracking to ensure action 
taken where s20 not appropriate; clear 
management rationales recorded 
where it is appropriate.

SR Feb 2020 Complete Pre-Covid the 
number of 
inappropriate s20 
cases reduced 

P
age 34



Appendix B – Improvement Activity Grid
AFI CHILDREN IN CARE, PERMANENCE AND CARE LEAVERS Priority level H X M L
Issues Gateway to care (compliance and quality); s20; unregulated connected persons placements; understanding and application of permanence planning; 

sufficiency (fostering service), 
Evidence  BAU monitoring (data and processes); full audits; thematic audit (permanence)
Services Safeguarding, Permanence, Fostering Teams Permanence teams; Fostering teams
Improvement 
action

Action Who? When? Delivery status Status
RAG 

Impact Impact 
RAG

Deliver learning roadshows to brief 
SWs and managers on uses and abuses 
of s20

SR Feb Complete significantly.
Embed routine 
tracking by HoS of 
s20 to ensure 
progress 
sustained.

Review HoS trackers and oversight of 
s20, using a triage session with HoS, 
legal and others to confirm position..

SR June 2020 Scheduled

Complete thematic audit on 
permanence to evaluate our 
performance and inform improvement.

TL May 2020 Fieldwork 
complete. Report 
to improvement 
exec 13 May.

First draft report – 
sufficient evidence 
to understand our 
performance

Design WFD programme for delivery 
rooted in Fundamentals, either through 
webinars, online learning, email docs or 
combination

SR/GH June 2020 
onwards

IROs – sorted and 
providing model 
for others. On 
track

Ensure all children 
in care have a 
SMART 
permanence plan 
no later than 
second review. 

WFD session for IROs SR/GH June 2020 Scheduled on 
track

Add extra layer of quality control to 
evaluate and improve draft documents; 
and provide constructive coaching 
feedback to SWs and TMs.

Nicola Bennett Jun-Sept 2020 Awaiting NB’s 
start

Ensure court 
documentation 
(SWET, care plan, 
VA, parenting 
assessments etc) 
are of good quality 
that enables the 
court to make 
good decisions for 
children.

Review NB’s QC to capture learning and 
inform guidance and WFD activities.

SR Sept 2020 Ditto

Complete thematic audit of pathway 
plans to understand quality.

VL/SR May 2020 Fieldwork 
complete

Improve the 
quality of pathway 
assessments and 
plans, ensuring 

Use learning to deliver guidance and 
WFD that reflects Fundamentals

VL/SR Jul 2020 Not yet underway

P
age 35



Appendix B – Improvement Activity Grid
AFI CHILDREN IN CARE, PERMANENCE AND CARE LEAVERS Priority level H X M L
Issues Gateway to care (compliance and quality); s20; unregulated connected persons placements; understanding and application of permanence planning; 

sufficiency (fostering service), 
Evidence  BAU monitoring (data and processes); full audits; thematic audit (permanence)
Services Safeguarding, Permanence, Fostering Teams Permanence teams; Fostering teams
Improvement 
action

Action Who? When? Delivery status Status
RAG 

Impact Impact 
RAG

use of tool is 
embedded
Improve support 
to care leavers.

Implement the care leaver service 
improvement plan and outcomes from 
partnership day.

MB From Mar 2020 Partially underway 
but largely stalled. 
Needs 
reinvigorating

Complete fostering improvement plan, 
reflecting QA findings including Anji 
Parker’s review.

TW From  Mar 2020 Stalled. Action 
needed.

Ensure there is a joined up placement 
request response between in-house 
fostering and commissioning

TW/JW From Mar 2020 Started but 
problematic. 
Progress 
hampered by 
Covid-19 
challenges.

Improve the 
sufficiency, 
availability and 
flexibility of in-
house foster care

Coach HoS, SM and TMs to build their 
capability to respond to unhelpful 
attitudes and behaviours that impede 
progress.

SR From Feb 2020 Underway, needs 
accelerating

Improve all 
elements of core 
practice: 
assessment, 
planning, 
purposeful 
intervention, 
recording, 
management 
oversight

Roll out Practice Fundamentals 
summary document through 
dissemination, manager briefings, staff 
briefings, using service-specific case 
examples.

RT/Academy From May 2020 Key document 
agreed. Roll-out 
not yet underway

P
age 36



Appendix C – Practice Fundamentals Tool

P
age 37



Page 38



 

1 
 

Accelerated Improvement Plan Refresh May 2020 
 

Aim of the plan To deliver consistently good services so children are safer, sooner 

Priorities                                     1. 
 
 

To reduce the proportion of inadequate practice and increase the proportion of improving practice so that practice is consistently good or better. 
 
 

2. 

To improve the quality and performance of social work practice in line with the Practice Fundamentals Tool, including: 
 
a) Supervision and Management Oversight  (to be regular, reflective and appropriately recorded in order to drive good practice outcomes) 
b) Visiting and Direct Work (to be timely, purposeful and champion the voice of the child - including MASH red RAG rated contacts) 
c) Assessment of needs, risks and circumstances (to reflect the Essentials 2.0 Programme ‘Anchor’ and ‘Risk’ principles) 
d) Planning and Reviewing (to be C-SMART, adaptive and effective)  
e) Case Recording (to be up to date, clear and comprehensive) 

 

3. 
To communicate with Practitioners, Managers and Leaders and engage their ‘hearts and minds’ to deliver practice and performance improvements 

 

4. 
To protect children through timely decisions and risk informed intervention and support that has a positive impact and improves outcomes 

5. 
To achieve permanence for children at the earliest appropriate opportunity 

 

 

D A S H B O A R D  

Reporting period: 1
s t

 M a y  2 0 2 0  t o  3 1
s t

 M a y  2 0 2 0  
 Progress made Actions Status Impact Status 

To reduce the 
proportion of 
inadequate practice 
and increase the 
proportion of 
improving practice 
so that practice is 
consistently good 
or better. 

 Core audits have been suspended in April and May to allow the Service to respond to the 
COVID-19 pandemic and establish effective business continuity planning 

 Core Audits will start again in June 

 3 thematic audits have however been completed  (focussing on repeat CP planning, ICPCs 
and Permanence), 159 children’s case records were reviewed through these thematic 
audits 

 The QA Framework has been refreshed to strengthen the emphasis between quality 
improvement, quality control and quality assurance activity. 

 On target X  On target  

 At risk   At risk X 

 Compromised   Compromised  

 Completed   Completed  

 
Participation in 
Essentials and in 
in-house 
Leadership 
Programme 

 The Essentials 2.0 Programme has already been delivered to 363 out of 436 staff with 304 
(63%) staff completing all 3 modules, 43 staff completing 2 modules and 26 staff 
completing 1 module 

 The Essential 2.0 Programme delivery has been suspended by the Social Work Academy 
during the COVID-19 pandemic whilst a virtual delivery platform was established 

 The Social Work Academy is in the process of testing the virtual delivery platform and re-
scheduling the Essentials 2.0 Programme 

 It is intended that the Essential 2.0 Programme will resume with the delivery of two 
sessions per week via the virtual platform from July    

 A leadership programme outline has been agreed for TMs and SMs with the aim of 
supplementing the learning from the IPC programme by focusing on the practical 
application of leadership skills. 

 Progress on the leadership programme paused due to COVID-19 but has resumed and 

 On target   On target  

 At risk   At risk X 

 Compromised X  Compromised  

P
age 39



 

2 
 

detailed programme development is now underway. There is a modular programme 
including 8 days in total. It is anticipated that the majority of the programme delivery will be 
completed in autumn 2020.  

 Leadership learning will be supported by the provision of action learning sets and coaching 
(dependent on available resources, see DfE coaching bid outlined below)  

 Completed   Completed  

To improve the 
quality and 
performance of 
social work 
practice in line with 
the Practice 
Fundamentals Tool: 
 
Supervision & 
Management 
Oversight 

 Following urgent remedial action, casework supervision improved to 67% in May from 38% 
in April.  

 Casework supervision compliance reporting has been established, a zero tolerance 
approach has been taken and further remedial action is being taken with identified Team 
Managers. 

 Professional supervision improved to 91% of social workers in May from 87% in April 

 Overall there has been an increase of reflective group supervisions being held over the last 
12 months, although this is not consistent month on month 

 Funding a programme of coaching and mentoring for Team and Service Managers is being 
explored with the DfE to strengthen supervision and management oversight. A DfE bid has 
been scoped and is due to be finalised and submitted by the end of June. 

 On target X  On target  

 At risk   At risk  

 Compromised   Compromised X 

 Completed   Completed  

To improve the 
quality and 
performance of 
social work 
practice in line with 
the Practice 
Fundamentals Tool: 
 
Timeliness of visits 

 The percentage of children seen within timescale following contact in relation to s47 
enquiries was 93% in May 

 The percentage of children seen within timescale following contact in relation to s17 
assessments was 86% in May 

 The combined s47 and s17 percentage of children seen within timescale following initial 
contact was 92% overall in May 

 The percentage of all children subject to a CIN, CP and care plan seen within timescale in 
May was 95% of which 79% were seen in person 

 The percentage of children subject to a child protection plan seen within timescale was 
95% in May of which 88% were seen in person 

 Based on the latest DfE survey return submitted (3rd June), Gloucestershire is performing 
better than the average for the South West (88% of CP see within 2 weeks compared to 
regional average of 81%; 75% of CIN seen within 4 weeks compared to regional average 
of 59%) 

 On target X  On target X 

 At risk   At risk  

 Compromised   Compromised  

 Completed   Completed  

To communicate 
with Practitioners, 
Managers and 
Leaders and 
engage their ‘hearts 
and minds’ to 
deliver practice and 
performance 
improvements 
 

 Business Continuity Planning arrangements continue to include 3 x a week CSC Bronze 
Group Meetings and twice weekly CS SLT Silver meetings  

 As of 13.05.2020 the extended Wednesday Bronze Group Meeting which incorporates the 
Leadership Team Meeting continues to include Services Managers on a monthly basis. To 
date, two monthly meetings have taken place 

 To date, 26 x COVID-19 technical briefings have been produced and disseminated to all 
CSC staff. Positive staff feedback has been received about the accessibility and 
helpfulness of this messaging  

 The PSW has continued to support staff drop-ins to hear and respond to the voice of front 
line practitioners and managers which provides valuable workforce intelligence and allows 
the management and leadership group to identify and respond to issues in ‘real time’ 

 The PSW also published a PSW Weekly Round Up every Friday to streamline and 
coordinate all the national, regional and sector led COVID-19 related communications for 
CSC staff 

 Director and senior leadership webinars have continued to develop to replace SLT 
Locality/Service visits to keep in touch with staff during the COVID-19 pandemic. A 
programme of SLT webinars is in place for the summer period. To date 5 Webinars have 

 On target X  On target X 

 At risk   At risk  

 Compromised   Compromised  

P
age 40



 

3 
 

already been delivered, with god attendance and positive feedback  

 A recent corporate staff survey (dated 22 - 29.04.2020) reported 79% of CS staff are 
working remotely and on a 1 to 5 point scale the majority of CS staff scored a 4 in terms of 
feeling mostly satisfied with information and communication, ICT support and home 
working arrangements. This survey will be repeated in June, participation will be actively 
encouraged.  

 Completed   Completed  

To protect children 
through timely and 
consistent risk 
informed 
intervention and 
support that has a 
positive impact and 
improves outcomes 

 Timeliness of Initial Child Protection Conferences has continued to improve to 61% but 
performance remains below target (80%) 

 Analysis of the reasons for late ICPC has been completed leading to additional HOS 
oversight and scrutiny of all ICPC requests focusing on timeliness and thresholds 

 The proportion of children becoming subject to a second or subsequent protection plan 
was 45% in-month during May and is 35% overall and remains a key focus 

 A joint HOS/Improvement Advisor Meeting was convened to review the outcome of the 
recent thematic audits regarding repeat CP planning and ICPCs 

 Targeted improvement action plans were agreed in response to the thematic audit 
recommendations 

 An away ½ day with conference chairs has been organised for June 2020 

 On target X  On target  

 At risk   At risk X 

 Compromised   Compromised  

 Completed   Completed  

To achieve 
permanence for 
children at the 
earliest appropriate 
opportunity 

 A joint HOS/Improvement Advisor Meeting was convened to review the outcome of the 
thematic audit regarding permanence and an improvement action plan was agreed in 
response to audit recommendations 

 91% of care leavers have an up-to-date Pathway Plan and this performance is above 
target 

 Remedial action is underway in response to the quarterly in-service pathway planning audit  

 A high proportion of care leavers across are in suitable accommodation 

 The threat of actual/anticipated eviction for older care leavers in independent 
accommodation is being tracked during COVID-19 to ensure continuity of support as 
required 

 The percentage of all children in care who are s20 remained at 28% in May (210 out of 
754) which is down from a peak of 31% six months ago although needs to be reduce 
further to be more in line with statistical neighbours/England average. 

 Despite COVID-19, targeted work has continued to initiate court care proceedings for 
some s20 children in care requiring legal permanence, although inevitably some courts 
delays have occurred 

 The legacy of longstanding and excessive s20 use will take months to work its way through 
as older CIC become 18 and pre-proceedings/proceedings are completed for a number of 
younger children and this work is underway 

 HoS are tracking and reporting on the s20 cohort of children at service/locality levels. They 
are required to place a management oversight on case note records to outline the rationale 
for s20 and any action that is necessary. A recent scrutiny exercise led to red RAGs and 
requirement for urgent action by HoS for nine children where there was an identified delay. 

 An away day with Independent Reviewing Officers has been planned for June 2020 

 A programme of Permanence Roadshows has been planned for June 2020 to address the 
thematic permanence audit improvement action plan 
 

 On target X  On target  

 At risk   At risk X 

 Compromised   Compromised  

 Completed   Completed  

  

P
age 41



 

4 
 

 

 

 To reduce the proportion of inadequate practice and increase the proportion of improving practice so overall practice is consistently good or better. 

Rationale The percentage of inadequate case work identified through case file audit has remained high. 

Actions status Impact Status 

 On target X  On target  

 At risk   At risk X 

Reporting period: 1st May 2020 To 31st May 2020 
 Compromised   Compromised  

 Completed   Completed  

Objectives 
 To improve the quality of Assessment and Planning 

 Reduce the % Inadequate work identified through case file auditing to 5-8% for a 
sustained period of 3 months prior to re-inspection  

Comments about 
overall status 

 Improvements in practice are yet to be consistently and 
sustainably embedded. The pace of change thus far has 
not met expectations.   

Progress made this 
period: 

 The new ‘Practice Fundamentals’ tool has been launched to promote accountability for 
assuring the quality of practice  

 The Safeguarding Campaign has been launched via the corporate communications team 

 Further work has been completed on CP decision-making regarding likely significant risk of 
harm and thresholds thought reviewing the findings from Hampshire’s repeat CP planning 
audit report (review of 41 repeat CP plans) as well as the ICPC audit 

 The findings from the permanence audit are informing the improvement work on 
permanence planning and practice 

 Pathway planning for care leavers has encompassed the recommendations arising from the 
Pathway Planning quarterly audit findings 

 

Actions next 
period: 

 Programme of case file auditing to re-start in June. 

 Liaise with Hampshire regarding follow up audit of repeat 
CP planning. 

 Continue to develop range of thematic/targeted audits to 
complement case file auditing. 

 Continue to develop the content of the leadership 
development programme for team and service managers 
due for Autumn 2020 

 Complete and submit DfE coaching bid for Team and 
Service Managers 

 Undertake weekly HOS post-launch updates regarding 
the application of Practice Fundamentals across all 
operational teams and services to ensure traction and 
share best practice examples 
 

 
 

Key Actions, Owners, Impacts on objectives and Timescale  

 Key Actions Owners Impact on Objective  Timescale 

Identify teams and individuals to target Leadership Team 

This will lead to focused interventions on teams and individuals 

identified as needing support based on performance data and 
results of audits 

Monthly based on Performance reports 

Deep dive Interventions into targeted teams 

and individuals 
Improvement Adviser 

Implementation of individual plans focused on their need to 

improve their practice, performance and quality of their work 
From September 19 

Applying learning from of Essentials Training to 

manage risks and harm (Anchor Principles) 
Heads of Service Better and  more consistent risk  management Monthly (via auditing and management oversight) 

Good practice sharing scheme Heads of Service/Team Managers with PSW 
Good practice examples are shared between peers and 
celebrated to increase overall awareness about what good looks 

like 

Monthly (via the frequency of weekly Bronze, Leadership & 

Management Meetings & PSW Drop Ins) 

Monitoring use of audit exemptions Director (Safeguarding) Increased completion of audit 
Monthly for each round of case file audits re-starting in 

June 2020 

Review of top 20 Neglect children cases in each 
locality (top 40 in Gloucester) which have had 

the most delay / drift 

Head of Improvement This will lead to actions to remediate to drifts and delays Completed by 30th June 

Develop a case file review tool to address  

concerns identified via Ofsted or Audit 
programme 

Head of Improvement 

This will lead to actions to remediate to drifts and delays 
Completed by 24th June 

Establish a programme of case file review 

activity 

Head of Improvement This will lead to actions to remediate to drifts and delays 
Completed by 24th June 

Establish a “field force” to deliver case file 
review programme 

Leadership Team This will lead to actions to remediate to drifts and delays 
Completed by 24th June 

P
age 42



 

5 
 

Review of audited cases where there are 

outstanding audit actions  
Heads of Service/Team Managers Increased impact of audits on children’s circumstances Monthly from 15th May 

Review of  Ofsted cases to address identified 
concerns (112 cases) 

“Field Force “ team This will lead to actions to remediate to drifts and delays Completed at end of March  

Revise case file audit form based on Ofsted 

grading 
Head of Quality & Safeguarding (Children & Young People)  Completed by 30th June  

Launch revised audit tool and QA framework Head of Quality & Safeguarding (Children & Young People)  Launched 1st July  

 
 

Metrics 

Improving & Embedding 

  April May June July August Sept October Nov December Jan 20 February March April May 

  Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual 

% of cases 

judged as 
inadequate 

12/ 

10% 
36% 

10/ 

8% 
40% 

8/ 

5% 
30% 

8/ 

5% 
30% 5% 17% 5% 23% 5% 28% 5% 26% 5% 30% 5% 12% 5% 25% 5% 23% 5% N/A 5% N/A 

% of audit actions 

from previous 
month within 

timescale 

75% 52% 75% 64% 75% 66% 75% 81% 75% 77% 75% 74% 80% 73% 80% 70% 80% 63% 80% 72% 80% 66% 80% 68% 80% N/A 80% N/A 

% of cases 
judged as good 25% 19% 25% 17% 25% 16% 25% 20% 30% 29% 30% 21% 35% 22% 35% 29% 35% 22% 35% 32% 35% 25% 35% 27% 35% N/A 35% N/A 

Number of 

Neglect cases 
reviewed 

(cumulative) 

    80 81 100 105 
  

      
            

Number of Ofsted 
cases subject to 

case file reviews 
and remedial 

actions (111) 

(cumulative) 

      91 27 119 32 
 

78  82  97 
 

99  99  111 
 

  111   

Number of 
RI/Inadequate 

cases subject to 
case file reviews 

and remedial 
actions (173+ 

272) (cumulative) 

      158 78 300 94 447 121  189  237  296  311  408 
 

408     

Number of 

coaching sessions 
delivered by 

Improvement 
advisors 

(cumulative) 

             4  21  38  48  57  63     

 

  

P
age 43



 

6 
 

 

 Participation in Essential and in-house Leadership and Management Development programme  

Rationale Essentials principles need to continue to be embedded to improve the quality of overall practice 

Actions status Impact Status 

 On target   On target  

 At risk   At risk X 

Reporting period: 1st May 2020 To 31st May 2020 
 Compromised X  Compromised  

 Completed   Completed  

Objectives 
 Increase completion rate of Essentials Training 

 In-house Leadership Management Development Programme 

Comments about 
overall status 

 The COVID-19 situation has led to 
disruption of the direct delivery of the 
Essentials 2.0 sessions to new starters 
and those requiring refreshers.   

 The Academy is currently testing the 
viability of delivery of these sessions 
through the Jabber video conferencing 
platform to resume this service.  

 It also delayed work on the in-house 
leadership and management 
programme but this has now resumed. 

Progress made 
this period: 

 On-going targeted work with respective Heads of Service in relation to the performance and quality of individual 
social workers and teams.   

 The Social Work Academy tested and confirmed virtual platform delivery arrangements   

 It is intended that the Essential 2.0 Programme will resume with the delivery of two sessions per week  via the 
virtual platform from July    

 The outline of the In-house Leadership programme has been completed, detailed content is now being written 
and is closely aligned with Essentials, Practice Fundamentals and NAAS. The programme is on track to be 
delivered throughout autumn 2020. 

Actions next period: 

 Pursue targeted work with Heads of 
Service 

 Resume delivery of Essentials 2.0 
Programme 

 Complete detailed content of in-house 
leadership & management programme 
and develop delivery schedule 

 Delivery of remaining IFT cohort 
(focused on TMs) to be arranged post 
COVID-19 
 

 
 

Key Actions, Owners, Impacts on objectives and Timescale  

 Key Actions Owners Impact on Objective  Timescale 

Analysis of current participation and 

identification of practitioners / managers 

requiring attending 1 or 2 modules for 
completing the Essentials Training 

 Quality Assurance Team 
Target communications to individuals who have missed one or two 

modules 

 Completed 

  

Actions to ensure attendance of practitioners 
missing 1 or 2 Modules. 

Heads of Service/Team Managers Increased overall completion of essential modules 

Delivery of the planned sessions completed at end of July. 

More session arranged from September 19 – Business as 
usual from October 19  

Revise Essentials Delivery Programme Quality Assurance Team 
Facilitate attendance and completion of modules (e.g. merging 
some modules) 

Completed 

Target next batch of Essential training to focus 

on TMs and APs 
Heads of Service/ Quality Assurance Team 

Increased numbers of TMs and APs who have completed the 

programme 

All sessions planned have been delivered. Another round of 

sessions planned from September. Practice oversight for AP 
in development 

 

 

Metrics 

  Improvement & Embedding 

  April May June July August Sept October Nov December Jan 20 February March April May 

  Target Actual Target Target Actual Target Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual 

P
age 44



 

7 
 

Number of Practitioners 
having completed 3 

relaunched essential 

modules (used to be 5 
Essentials Modules) 

130 22 tbc  tbc 149 tbc 174 tbc 174 tbc 223 tbc  tbc 245    264  287  294 
 

294  294 

Number of TMs and 

HofS who have 
completed 7 module + 

of IPC management 
development programme  

16 10  10  10 35 32 45       50  51       
    

Quality of assessment 

(QA report) – rated as a 
percentage of 

assessments evaluated 

as ‘Good’. 

 19%  17%  8%  19%  28%  23%  23%  29%  28%  32%  19%  27% 
 

N/A  N/A 

SMART planning (QA 
report) – rated as a 

percentage of plans 
evaluated as ‘Good’. 

 19%  20%  20%  21%  18%  17%  18%  31%  23%  27%  21%  28% 
 

N/A  N/A 

 

 

 
 

  

P
age 45



 

8 
 

 

 

 To improve the quality and performance of social work practice in line with the Practice Fundamentals Tool: Supervision & Management Oversight 

Rationale 

Supervision previously relied on manual return leading to an incomplete picture in terms of extent and 
frequency of supervision. A tracker has been established, this will lead to better understanding of 
impact of supervision on quality of practice. Lack of supervision has been previously cited in exit 
interviews. 

Actions status Impact status 

 On target X  On target  

 At risk   At risk X 

Reporting period: 1st May 2020 To 31st May 2020 

 
Compromised 

  Compromised  

 Completed   Completed  

Objectives 
 To drive good practice and decision making and be regular, reflective and appropriately 

recorded 

Comments 
about overall 
status 

 Targeted work is continuing taking place.  Completion, 

timeliness and recording of case supervision on LL 
improved but significant further improvement is needed. 

Progress made this 
period: 

 Scrutiny of underperforming SWs and Team report for April revealed 14 SWs (5%) across 12 
teams rated Red/Amber for 3 +months (down from highest of 29 in May 2019), 25 of 44 teams 
(57%) rated Red/Amber for 3 + months (up from lowest of 16 in March 2019) with 6 of these 
teams being rated Red/Amber for 19 months.  

 Overall, team meetings have been taking place with key messages cascaded at team meetings 
and 76% of social care teams confirmed they have had a team meeting in May 

 Group reflective supervision has continued in May with 31% of teams having confirmed they have 
had reflective group supervision.  

 The supervision tracker for reporting professional supervision is embedded and reported its 
highest performance at 91% in May (compared to 87% in April).  

 A programme of Coaching and Mentoring for Team Managers and Service Managers is being 
explored with the DfE around reinforcing Essentials Programme principles and Practice 
Fundamentals. 

Actions next 
period: 

 

 Further targeted action by Director (Safeguarding) to 
address underperforming SWs and Teams with Heads 
of Service, HR and Performance 

 Implement the SW and Tam performance tracker 
including HOS informed updates 

 Enforce use of the mandatory recording of casework 
supervision using the Liquid Logic template in ‘forms’ 
using the Team Manager performance compliance 
reporting 

 Complete and pursue the Coaching and Mentoring bid 
with the DfE 

 
 

Key Actions, Owners, Impacts on objectives and Timescale  

 Key Actions Owners Impact on Objective  Timescale 

Refresh supervision procedures and standards Director of Safeguarding 
Requirements and minimum standards are strengthened and made 

clearer 
Completed and relaunched 

Monthly reporting on recording casework 

supervision compliance for scrutiny and review 
with all Team Managers 

Head of Service / Director of Safeguarding with HR 
To address compliance and improve performance by enforcing 

casework supervision recording standards 
Marked improvement in June 2020 & monthly thereafter 

Complete evaluation of safeguarding TMs  Head of Service / Director of Safeguarding & HR 

To improve the practice of underperforming SWs and TMs, to 

include formal HR performance management measures where 
necessary and appropriate 

To track identified SWs & Team Managers and establish 
performance management plans by end of June 2020 

Essex TM mentoring Head of Service / Director of Safeguarding To increase confidence and quality of supervisions provided by TMs Completed  

Improvement Advisors to coach / mentor targeted 

TMs 
Director of Safeguarding / Improvement Adviser 

To increase confidence and quality of management oversight and 

accountability for practice standards provided by TMs  
September 2019 onwards 

Head of Service reports to SLT Director of Safeguarding Increased oversight of SLT on progresses and barriers  Took place Jan 19 to June 19 

Extended Manager Meetings (EMM)  Director of Safeguarding Increased pace of learning Fortnightly EMM in Feb and March – Now quarterly 

Revise report and data capture for supervision Business Manager 
Increased oversight and better picture of frequency and consistency 

of supervision 
Completed  

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

P
age 46



 

9 
 

Metrics 

  Improving & Embedding 

 
April May June July August Sept October Nov December Jan 20 February March April May 

  Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual 

Number of TM 

mentored by 

Improvement Adviser 

               17  17  17  17       

% of SW who have 

had  a monthly 

supervisions  

65 / 
75% 

 
65 / 
75% 

 
70 / 
80% 

 80%  90% 81% 95% 79% 95% 84% 95% 76%  77%  89%  82%    87%  91% 

% of case supervision 
                       38%  50%  67% 

Management oversight 
(QA report) – rated as 

a percentage of 

management oversight 
and supervision 

evaluated as ‘Good’. 

 11%  12%  17%  18%  28%  26%  23%  32%  24%  44%  29%  27%  N/A  N/A 

 
  

P
age 47



 

10 
 

 

 To improve the quality and performance of social work practice in line with the Practice Fundamentals Tool: Timeliness of visits 

Rationale 

The percentage of children seen in a timely way following contact needs  to improve further to ensure 
they are safe and well and that purposeful support and intervention is undertaken to make sure 
their voice is heard 
 

Actions status Impact Status 

 On target X  On target X 

 At risk   At risk  

Reporting period: 1st May 2020 To 31st May 2020 

 
Compromised 

  Compromised  

 Completed   Completed  

Objectives 

 Increase the timeliness of decision-making for Red RAG rated contacts  

 Increase the % of s17 and s47 visits within timescales following contact 

 Increase the % of visits to children in need of support, protection and care 
 

Comments 
about overall 
status 

 Timeliness of all visits is positive overall 
 

Progress made this 
period: 

 Timeliness of decision making for Red RAG rated contacts had decreased this month (84%)  after 
having improved in March and April 

 The percentage of children seen within timescale following contact in relation to s47 enquiries was 
93% in May 

 The percentage of children seen within timescale following contact in relation to s17 assessments 
was 86% in May 

 The combined s47 and s17 percentage of children seen within timescale following initial contact 
was 92% overall in May 

 The percentage of all children subject to a CIN, CP and Care plan seen within timescale in May 
was 95% of which 79% were seen in person 

 The percentage of children subject to a child protection plan seen within timescale was 95% in 
May of which 88% were seen in person 

 The significant majority of children in care have been seen within timescale (May 89%), although 
this is below the target of 95%, and have an up-to date review and pathway plan. 

 Monthly performance surgeries have continued to be convened on a virtual basis. 

 Based on the latest DfE survey return submitted (3rd June), Gloucestershire is performing better 
than the average for the South West (88% of CP see within 2 weeks compared to regional 
average of 81%; 75% of CIN seen within 4 weeks compared to regional average of 59%) 

 

Actions next 
period: 

 Consolidate and maintain improved overall visiting 
performance 

 Address visiting performance variability between teams  

 Implement Practice Fundamentals to ensure purposeful 
visiting and direct work with children 

 Maintain high level of face to face visits during COVID-19 
pandemic 

 

 
 

Key Actions, Owners, Impacts on objectives and Timescale  

 Key Actions Owners Impact on Objective  Timescale 

TM to hold Monday morning planning meetings  
(to schedule all upcoming visits & tasks that need 

to be completed) and to review any overdue from 

previous week with reference to appropriate web 
reports 

Team Managers  
TMs and SWs are clear about visits which need to be completed 
  

Weekly and on-going 

Performance surgeries to focus on visits Heads of Service 
Reinforce messages about visits being a key priority to target 

any ‘at risk’  visits and underperformance 

Monthly from February  2020 and on-going on a virtual basis 

currently 

Deep dive intervention in struggling teams  Improvement Advisors Identify root causes and target improvement intervention 

Fortnightly Head of Service report to SLT (Jan 19 to June 

19). Coaching / Mentoring by Improvement Advisors from 
Sept 19 

EMM to focus on TM approach to visit and review 

progress made by TMs on agreed actions  
Head of Service / Director of Safeguarding TMs are held to account  Fortnightly Head of Service report to SLT (Jan 19 to June 19) 

Data and report: 
- Gap in quantum terms 

- Forward look dynamic daily reporting 

- % timeliness report to HofS 

Team Managers 
Increased awareness, improved understanding and action 

required  to address gaps and achieve performance target  

Daily forward looking reporting by Team Managers on visits 

due. Weekly monitoring of visits completed by Head of 
Service 

Refresh Practice Standards for visits following RE, RT  Completed 

P
age 48



 

11 
 

referrals, care leaver visiting, private fostering etc. 

Implement revised visiting data metrics AD, KH  Completed 
 

 

 

Metrics 

  Improving & Embedding 

  April May June July August Sept October Nov December Jan 20 February March April May 

  Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual 

Percentage of children 

seen within timescale 
following contact – Sec 

17 

70% 65% 80% 75% 80% 84% 80% 77% 80% 73% 80% 76% 80% 75% 80% 75% 80% 80% 80% 89% 80% 92% 80% 90% 80% 85% 80% 93% 

Percentage of children 
seen within timescale 

following contact – Sec 

47 

80% 74% 80% 62% 80% 76% 80% 60% 80% 75% 80% 53% 80% 90% 80% 75% 80% 66% 80% 75% 80% 76% 80% 66% 80% 72% 80% 86% 

Percentage of children in 

need seen within 

timescale  

80% 89% 80% 86% 80% 85% 85% 80% 85% 86% 85% 87% 85% 87% 85% 87% 85% 88% 85% 91% 85% 91% 85% 88% 85% 91% 85% 95% 

Percentage of children 
on CP plans seen within 

timescale  

85% 93% 85% 87% 85% 87% 90% 78% 90% 86% 90% 88% 90% 87% 90% 91% 90% 89% 90% 87% 90% 91% 90% 84% 90% 92% 90% 95% 

Percentage of children 
for CIC seen within 

timescale 

90% 96% 90% 99% 90% 96% 95% 96% 95% 96% 95% 95% 95% 97% 95% 96% 95% 96% 95% 96% 95% 98% 95% 95% 95% 84% 95% 89% 

% of contact to final 
decision in 4 working 

hours for Red RAG rated 
contacts 

 64%  55%  89%  90%  95%  98%  89%  98%  95%  89%  82%  94%  90%  84% 

 
  

P
age 49



 

12 
 

 

 To communicate with Practitioners, Managers and Leaders and engage their ‘hearts and minds’ to deliver practice and performance improvements 

Rationale 

The Accelerated Improvement Plan (AIP) is the operational recovery mechanism which focuses 
improvement activity on priority practice fundamentals which need to improve rapidly. Given the need 
for pace and focus implicit in the AIP, there is a need for a programme of communications and 
improvement activity to ensure we engage the ‘hearts and minds’ of practitioners and managers. The 
AIP is subject to regular review and oversight by the Improvement Board, Corporate and Senior 
Leadership Teams.  

Actions status Impact status 

 On target X  On target X 

 At risk   At risk  

Reporting period: 1st May 2020 To 31st May 2020 

 
Compromised 

  Compromised  

 Completed   Completed  

Objectives 

 To ensure there is comprehensive and consistent understanding of the content and purpose of the 
AIP 

 To provide regular updates on progress against AIP priorities 

 To ensure the focus of improvement activity within the AIP is meaningful and delivers change / 
improvement for children and young people. 

Comments 
about overall 
status 

 The communications approach aims to engage 
Practitioners, Team Managers and Senior Leaders in 
improvement activity through a range of approaches 
which have been adapted to take account of COVID-19 

Progress made this 
period: 

 Continued sharing of messages via ‘Families Count’ and communications from SLT 

 Technical briefings developed in relation to COVID-19 for staff and shared with partners (26 
briefings as at 09.06.2020.) 

 5 Director/SLT webinars completed to date (with further webinars scheduled) 

 Continued Principal Social Worker facilitated drop ins for frontline SWs/Managers and a weekly 
Round-Up  

 Improvement Activity Grid developed to provide a framework for all improvement activity. 

 Practice Fundamentals Tool launched with associated communications 

 Working in partnership with the LGA and DfE, Dr Andy Gill commissioned to undertake a review 
the current range of improvement and service development activity underway across children’s 
services and layout a road map for a single, long term transformation programme.  Dr Gill’s 
recommendations have been accepted and are informing the development of a single whole 
service transformation plan (which will supersede ‘Building the Best’) and will  incorporate any 
residual activity that has not yet been delivered 

 New AIP Meeting convened with Director (Safeguarding), HOS, Improvement Advisors and 
corporate business partners to join up improvement with delivery 

Actions next 
period: 

 

 Programme of PSW Team drop-in sessions  scheduled 
throughout the month 

 Weekly PSW Round-Up of local, regional and national 
publications, press releases, projects, programmes and 
initiatives 

 Weekly HOS Practice Fundamentals implementation 
reviews 

 Further DCS/SLT webinars to be delivered throughout 
the month 

 Continuation of COVID-19 technical briefings  

 Weekly HOS review of the Practice Fundamentals 
implementation 

 Re-visit vision, values and behaviours with DfE Children’s 
Improvement Advisor  

 
 

Key Actions, Owners, Impacts on objectives and Timescale  

 Key Actions Owners Impact on Objective  Timescale 

Visits to Teams by Directors DCS and SLT Increased visibility, staff engagement and feedback 
On-going (although replaced by webinars due to COVID-
19) 

Heads of Service briefing Directors Increase ownership of key messages completed 

Team Manager briefing Directors and Heads of Service Increase ownership of key messages completed 

Key messages and videos  on TV screens Directors and Communication team Update and re-inforce key messages to front line staff Started 29 July  

Conversation with staff roadshow Improvement Advisor Prepare staff for Ofsted Inspection 
October 19 onwards – completed (to be repeated in line 
with COVID-19 recovery) 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

P
age 50



 

13 
 

Metrics  

  Improving and Embedding 

 
April May June July August Sept October Nov December Jan 20 February March April  May 

  Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual 

Number of Teams 

visited by Directors            11   7    8    7    9   7  5    22    6   6  N/A   N/A 

Video and key 
messages produced – 

Themes: ”All about the 
Child” ; “Visiting 

Children”; “Assessment 

and Plan”; 
“Supervision”; “SW 

stories ” (cumulative) 

            
 

1   3     4   5                        

Number of Staff 
Roadshow (cumulative)              2  16  18           

 

  

P
age 51



 

14 
 

 

 
 

 To protect children through timely decisions and risk informed intervention and support that has a positive impact and improves outcomes 

Rationale 

Ofsted inspected Children’s Services in 2017 and judged the service to be inadequate for children 
who need help and protection and inadequate overall. Ofsted have continued to undertake regular 
monitoring visits. Inspections are currently suspended due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Children’s 
Services must improve safeguarding services at pace and deliver consistently good services to 
achieve positive outcomes for local children and young people. 

During the 8th and most recent monitoring visit in February 2020, Ofsted acknowledged some 
safeguarding improvements but identified concerns about the focus, pace and consistency of 
improvement, including a decline in the quality of DCYPS practice. 

Actions status Impact status 

 On target X  On target  

 At risk   At risk X 

Reporting period: 1st May 2020 To 31st May 2020 

 
Compromised 

  Compromised  

 Completed   Completed  

Objectives 

 To ensure quality of management oversight & supervision to bring critical challenge & reflection 

 To deliver timely and purposeful visiting with children and young people 

 To deliver timely protection for children, including timely initial CP conferences 

 To intervene in order to address and record children’s lived experiences 

 To develop SMART plans including the use of consistent contingency planning  

 To target DCYPS quality of practice, including staff turnover & management oversight in order to 
challenge planning and intervention, including late transition planning 

Comments 
about overall 
status 

 A schedule of targeted improvement activity  is in place  

 Improvement activity needs to be forensic and delivered 
at pace in order to achieve the widespread improvements 
that are required  

Progress made this 
period: 

 Thematic audit about repeat child protection planning highlighted historical poor practice leading to 
drift for affected children, however there were some indications that the most recent plans were 
accompanied by better planning and intervention. A range of targeted improvements were 
identified. 

 Thematic ICPC audit identified that a good proportion of children presented to ICPC receive the 
right decisions based on well presented information. The quality of information presented for 
children without a CP plan, the application of the emotional abuse category and the quality of 
plans generally are all areas for targeted improvement 

 DCYPS experienced interim service manager joined the service to add capacity and DCYPS 
service improvement action plan completed  

 Seconded Ofsted HMI reviewing and providing critical feedback on LPM document bundles prior 
to LPM. TMs report good learning that supports improvement. 

 All court care proceedings have been moved to virtual/remote hearings, with the use of 2 x virtual 
(quasi) court rooms established in Shire Hall and Cheltenham. All court cases triaged to manage 
demand for court time dependent on critical risk and urgency (demand = C100 x court care 
proceedings and 30 x new care applications) to provide legal protection for children resulting in 
additional legal resources being commissioned a neighbouring local authority. 

Actions next 
period: 

 Develop the thematic audit action plans for repeat CP 
planning and ICPCs 

 26 June 2020: all-day workshop with CP chairs focusing 
on their role in achieving change for children with SMART 
planning, pace and assertive challenge (underpinned by 
Practice Fundamentals and learning from thematic 
audits). 

 Develop impact tools to clarify  

 SMART planning: mandatory bitesize workshop 
programme for SWs and managers in development for 
delivery June - August 2020 (underpinned by Practice 
Fundamentals and learning from thematic audits). 

 Phase 2 of thematic audit on decision-making in CP 
system. 

 Review and further develop court capacity with legal 
service, the court and CAFCASS 

 

Key Actions, Owners, Impacts on objectives and Timescale  

 Key Actions Owners Impact on Objective  Timescale 

Evaluate impact of safeguarding improvement 

activities (strategy meetings, ICPCs, repeat plans, 
neglect, pre-birth) and use learning to shape and 

target further improvement work. 

Director (Safeguarding) / HOS QA / Improvement Advisor 

Decision-making at key points of the safeguarding system are 

sound and based on best evidence from good quality 

assessments. 

May 2020  

Introduce enhanced quality control of LPM 

document bundles by deploying seconded Ofsted 
HMI. 

Director (Safeguarding) /HOS QA / HOS Cheltenham 
LPMs can make the right decision first time because the quality 

of submissions is consistently good enough. 
May 2020 for duration of secondment 

Implement improvement plan for DCYPS that 

focuses on Essentials and Practice Fundamentals 
Acting Education Director / HOS DCYPS 

Children and young people with disabilities have their needs 

assessed and met promptly, including safeguarding needs. 
June 2020 

 

 

P
age 52



 

15 
 

 
Metrics 

  Improving & Embedding 

  April May June July August Sept October Nov December Jan 20 February March April May 

  Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual 

Children subject to an 
Initial Child Protection 

Conferences held within 
15 working days of the 

initiation of the S47 

enquiry which led to the 
conference  

80% 62% 80% 72% 80% 89% 80% 80% 80% 53% 80% 57% 80% 39% 80% 39% 80% 42% 80% 55% 80% 62% 80% 66% 80% 53% 80% 61% 

Children becoming 

subject of a Child 
Protection plan for 2nd 

or subsequent time  
 

25% 31% 25% 20% 25% 24% 25% 29% 25% 34% 25% 36% 25% 28% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 35% 25% 25% 25% 37% 25% 21% 25% 35% 

 
 
  

P
age 53



 

16 
 

 

 

 To achieve permanence for children at the earliest appropriate opportunity 

Rationale 

Ofsted inspected Children’s Services in 2017 and judged the service to ‘Require Improvement’ for 
children looked after and achieving permanence (with sub-judgements of ‘Good’ for Adoption 
performance and ‘Requires Improvement’ in respect of the experiences and progress of care leavers). 
Ofsted have continued to undertake regular monitoring visits.  

 

The 7th and penultimate monitoring visit focused on care leavers was undertaken in September 2019. 
Ofsted recognised that a number of the recommendations from the previous visit had been 
progressed however there were still some areas that needed further work to improve care leaving 
services. 

Actions status Impact status 

 On target X  On target  

 At risk   At risk X 

Reporting period: 1st May 2020 To 31st  May 2020 

 
Compromised 

  Compromised  

 Completed   Completed  

Objectives 

 To ensure children achieve timely legal, placement and emotional permanence  

 To improve the quality and effectiveness of care and pathway plans 

 To strengthen transition planning 

 To provide care leavers with important information about their health histories 

 To increase the number of young people in employment, education or training 
 

Comments 
about overall 
status 

 A schedule of targeted improvement activity  is in place  

 Improvement activity needs to be forensic and delivered 
at pace in order to achieve the widespread improvements 
that are required 

Progress made this 
period: 

 The percentage of all children in care who are s20 remained high at end of May (210 out of 754 = 
28%). This is down from a peak of 31% six months ago. 

 Intensive work with operational SW teams and legal services in December, January and February 
led to the identification of all children for whom s20 was appropriate and all for whom action was 
needed to end the use of s20. 

 This has yet to lead to a big reduction in the use of s20 as there is a legacy effect. However, there 
is now assurance that in almost all cases s20 is appropriate (and recorded as such with a 
rationale) or action is underway (e.g. LPM, pre-proceedings and care proceedings). A recent 
review identified nine children/young people where action was delayed and HOS are escalating.  

 Despite Covid-19, work has continued to bring children’s cases to court where appropriate, though 
inevitably there has been some delay as a result. 

 HOS now maintain trackers and scrutinise s20 rates and use, which are now also scrutinised at 
strategic performance surgery. 

 The use of s20 for new entrants has been volatile as a percentage. We saw a significant reduction 
earlier this year but in May 20, 87% of children entering care did so under s20. This is high and as 
yet we do not understand the reasons. HOS have been reminded of the need to scrutinise and 
challenge all use of s20, including for new entrants to care. 

 Improvement advisers delivered IRO service development day – focus on IRO role in achieving 
permanence and skills development to be effective in that role. Underpinned by thematic audit 
findings and Practice Fundamentals. 

 Revised care leaver service improvement plan completed for SLT sign-off June 2020. 

 DCYPS and Care Leaver service improvement plans set out actions to improve transitions. 

Actions next 
period: 

 Improvement advisers will deliver mandatory bitesize 
workshops on achieving permanence to all SWs and 
Managers in June - July 2020 to be informed by 
thematic audit findings and Practice Fundamentals.  

 Provide briefings to Care Leaver practitioners on 
findings from the quarterly Pathway Plan audit to include 
guidance about what is a good plan and compliance with 
agreed tools and guidance 

 Further detailed scrutiny to address agreed s20 actions. 

 Consolidate LPM quality control findings and develop 
learning lessons for SWs and Team Managers 

 Review and refresh Fostering Service improvement 
action plan 

 

Key Actions, Owners, Impacts on objectives and Timescale  

 Key Actions Owners Impact on Objective  Timescale 

Thematic champions to be identified for care 
leavers 

DCS and CIC Strategic Lead Increased offer to care leavers January 2020 

Apprenticeships and work experience opportunities 

to be widened 
Leader of the Council / Lead Member 

Increased number of care leaver in employment, education or 

training 
January 2020 

16+ Panel DCS / Integrated Commissioner Stronger transition to adulthood Each month 

P
age 54



 

17 
 

Implement new pathway planning toolkit Director (Safeguarding / HOS Stroud & Gloucester Increased effectiveness of pathway planning September 2019  

Review, redesign and implement new Pathway 
Planning form and LL pathway. 

HOS Stroud & Gloucester Streamlining of process to improve performance June 2020  

Review Health Passport HOS Stroud & Gloucester 
Every CIC/ Care Leavers has a meaningful health passport from 

the age of 16 years 
By end of January 2020 

Evaluate impact of safeguarding improvement 

activities (strategy meetings, ICPCs, repeat plans, 
neglect, per-birth) and use learning to shape and 

target further improvement work. 

Director (Safeguarding) / HOS QA 

Decision-making at key points of the safeguarding system are 

sound and based on best evidence from good quality 
assessments. 

May 2020 onwards 

Test through case sampling the impact of work to 
improve permanence planning starting May 2020. 

Improvement Advisor / CIC Strategic Lead We achieve permanence for children without undue delay. September 2020  

Implement improvement plan for CYDPS that 
focuses on Essentials and Practice Fundamentals 

Acting Education Director / HOS DCYPS 
Children and young people with disabilities have their needs 
assessed and met promptly, including safeguarding needs. 

June 2020 
 

 

 
Metrics  

  Improving & Embedding 

  April May June July August Sept October Nov December Jan 20 February March April May 

  Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual 

Care leavers with an up-

to-date Pathway Plan  94%  89%  92% 80% 90% 80% 93% 80% 86% 80% 87% 80% 82% 80% 82% 80% 86% 80% 85% 80% 85% 80% 88% 80% 91% 

Percentage of Care 

Leavers in  Education, 
Employment or Training 

(19-21 years) 

 48%  49%  56%  51%  52%  52%  54%  57%  57%  55%  54%  50%  47%  45% 

Care Leavers in suitable 

accommodation (19-21 
years) 

 90%  88%  90%  92%  93%  92%  91%  91%  93%  92%  92%  91%  92%  92% 

Children in Care 

Accommodated under a 
Section 20 Agreement 

28% 
33.3

% 
28% 31% 28% 

30.3

% 
28% 

30.2

% 
28% 

30.8

% 
28% 

30.8

% 
28% 

30.6

% 
28% 

29.4

% 
28% 

28.1

% 
28% 

27.4

% 
28% 

27.3

% 
28% 

27.6

% 
28% 

27.8

% 
28% 

27.7

% 

 
 

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

1

Gloucestershire County Council:
Children’s Services

Self-Assessment: May 2020

 

Page 57



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

2

CONTENTS

Page Number

1.0 Introduction and Vision 3

2.0 Our response to Covid 19 5
3.0 Experiences and progress of children in need 

of help and protection
7

3.1 MASH 7
3.2 Assessment and Safeguarding Teams 11
3.3 Early Help 16
3.4 Safeguarding, CP Chairs, LADO and Specialist 

Services
18

3.5 Children With Disabilities 19
3.6 Emergency Duty Team 21
4.0 Experiences and progress of children looked 

after and achieving performance
22

4.1 Children in Care (Looked after Children) 22
4.2 Care Leavers 27
4.3 Virtual School 30
4.4 IROs 33
4.5 Fostering 34
4.6 Adoption and Permanence 35
4.7 Edge of Care 36
5.0 Impact of Leaders on Social Work Practice 

with Children and Families
38

Page 58



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

3

1.0 Introduction and Vision

The outcome of 2017 Inspection had the effect of galvanising the political, corporate 
and partnership focus on the safeguarding, welfare and wellbeing of children in 
Gloucestershire.  This has delivered considerable additional investment in children’s 
services by Gloucestershire County Council providing for increased staffing, the 
development of the Social Work Academy and ICT infrastructure to support agile 
working.  A re-energised partnership, utilising the revised arrangements to safeguard 
children and young people introduced under Working Together 2018 has been a 
further positive factor.  

Our longer-term aim is for Gloucestershire to become a ‘child friendly county’ in 
which improving outcomes for children and young people forms a golden thread 
running through all key polices and strategies.  The DfE Child Health Profile for 2019 
evidences that outcomes for children and young people in Gloucestershire are at or 
above England averages however, our ambition over the next five years is for these 
to be top quartile.  A revised plan for all children and young people is in the final 
stages of completion and will provide the multi-agency focal point for this activity, 
working under the auspices of our Health and Wellbeing Board and Leadership 
Gloucestershire. 

An experienced senior leadership team, including a DCS with experience of leading 
social care improvement elsewhere, has been in place since August 2018 and is 
embedding a clear vision and coherent plan to improve services to children and 
families in Gloucestershire.  As a Council that is financially sound and performing 
well in most areas, the initial corporate support for children’s services involved 
putting the necessary infrastructure, systems and processes in place to support the 
improvements in practice. It is acknowledged that in the period immediately 
following inspection in March 2017, GCC CS and its partners lacked the capacity to 
develop and implement transformational change to practice at pace.   A further 
challenge has been to develop and embed a learning culture that is open to change 
and committed to continuous improvement.

A comprehensive improvement plan ‘Building the Best’ provides the main focal point 
for improvement activity, supported by an Accelerated Improvement Plan (AIP) 
focussed on a set of key practice priorities.  Robust scrutiny and challenge are 
provided by a multi-agency Children’s Improvement Board which meets on a bi-
monthly basis under an independent chair, who has considerable experience of 
delivering positive change in a large authority.  Our improvement activity is further 
informed by the learning from our Partner in Practice, Essex County Council, 
alongside work with Hampshire County Council Children’s Services, our internal 
quality assurance activity and Ofsted monitoring visits.

Page 59



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

4

Workforce stability remains the most obvious challenge to delivering sustainably 
improved outcomes for children.  This is steadily improving with ongoing reductions 
in our agency staffing, vacancy and turnover rates.  Caseloads are manageable for 
the vast majority of social workers, with noticeable improvements in morale over 
recent months. 

Key areas of practice such MASH decision making, assessment timeliness, initial and 
ongoing visits to children and the allocating of social workers are showing signs of 
sustained improvement however, we know we must increase pace and consistency. 
The volumes of repeat activity including re-referrals, repeat child protection plans 
and readmissions to care remain an area of focus and although showing signs of 
improvement more is needed to bring these close to comparator levels.  Our quality 
assurance and performance framework provide senior leadership with an 
increasingly detailed insight into the timeliness, quality and impact of visits, 
assessments and plans to ensure we focus on the right things for children and 
families. The voice of the child is increasingly evident but more work is needed to 
secure the participation of children and young people in the care processes 
impacting on their lives.  Management oversight and supervision are increasingly 
apparent; however, they are not yet consistently focused on outcomes for children 
and quality remains variable.

A range of key services for children including those for care leavers, children in care 
aged 11 years and over, youth offending and youth support have previously been 
delivered via an external contractual arrangement, which had not been closely 
managed in the past.  Work has recently progressed to re-integrate these elements 
within our future service offer, with the Care Leavers and Children in Care (11yrs 
plus) transferring back to GCC management in July 2019.   This is already providing 
greater management grip and integration of activity for children and young people.

We provide timely and effective help and protection to the large majority of children 
referred to us. There is sustained attention to the basics of social work practice via 
our Essentials 2.0 Programme, along with a substantial investment in practitioner 
and ICT resources to create the conditions for effective practice to flourish.  Taking 
those factors into account, the judgment of senior leadership is that the service is 
making progress but that a step change is needed to substantially increase the pace 
and consistency of change.  We know we have more to do to deliver consistently 
good services to children and young people. This aligns with the feedback we have 
had from successive Ofsted monitoring visits.

Page 60



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

5

2.0 Responding to Covid 19

The emergence of Covid 19 has been described as the most significant crisis the 
United Kingdom has faced since the Second World War, with profound implications 
for public health and wellbeing, employment and the economy. Our Covid 19 
response forms part of the wider GCC and multi-agency arrangements for 
Gloucestershire and aim to provide a cohesive ‘whole department’ response to 
mitigate risk(s) impacting upon the effective and efficient delivery of Children’s 
Services.  COVID-19 is requiring us to balance our duty to safeguard children with 
appropriate measures to minimise the spread of the virus, as informed by national 
guidance and ongoing advice from public health colleagues. Our overall strategy is to 
ensure we continue to support our most vulnerable children and young people 
through the continuation of direct work, tightly managed within safety guidelines, 
and making extensive use of digital technology to ensure key decision making, 
management oversight, assessment and court processes continue on a virtual basis.  

Our business continuity plans prioritise our work on the basis of risk, vulnerability 
and resource.  We are managing the challenges that emerge through regular Bronze 
and Silver (virtual) meetings that link, in turn, to corporate crisis response 
arrangements.  A comprehensive communications architecture, based on virtual 
conference facilities, enables localities and service areas to function remotely, with a 
minimal staff presence on site.  Staff and vulnerable children trackers have been put 
in place.  Hygiene packs have been developed and issued with guidance to 
practitioners to ensure visits can be conducted in line with infection control 
procedures.

As we develop a greater appreciation of COVID-19’s impact on our services, we are 
issuing detailed briefing notes to ensure practitioners and managers are clear about 
practice expectations in light of the operational adjustments that we are being 
required to make.   A series of briefing notes for schools has also been developed.  In 
summary, our Covid 19 operating arrangements are as follows:

 MASH remains the single point of contact for referring new child safeguarding 
concerns and is now working on a dispersed model.

 Visits to children are continuing using a variety of means ranging from direct 
face to face (when risk assessed to be safe and essential), to indirect and 
remote using a range of digital solutions, such as Facetime and Skype, as well 
as email and telephone contact.  

 Our recording arrangements enable us to understand how ‘visits’ and contact 
with children have been completed.

Page 61



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

6

 Child protection conferences and child in care reviews are continuing on a 
virtual basis, using a variety of digital / technological means to ensure 
children and families are consulted and able to participate.

 Joint working with schools to understand the take up of the education offer 
by vulnerable children to ensure they do not fall through the gaps.

 Foster Carer and Adopter recruitment is continuing largely on a virtual basis, 
albeit with some face to face work, when safe to do so, in order to remain 
within statutory guidance.

 Care proceedings are being conducted via virtual Family Proceedings Courts. 

 Commissioning are supporting independent providers to continue caring for 
our children in care.

 We have written to existing services users to reassure parents/carers and 
care leavers about our continuing support.

 A vulnerable children and families cell has been established as part of 
Gloucestershire’s multi-agency crisis response arrangements.

 A family support helpline has been established by our early help service.

At present, front line services are managing and at this stage we have opted not to 
utilise the freedoms and flexibilities provided by recent legislative amendments. This 
will be kept under review by senior leadership and may change should significant 
demand pressures emerge or an increasing number of staff become symptomatic 
and unwell.  Initial visiting data for April (below) suggests that our arrangements are 
being effective in sustaining core activity:

Type of visit % in timescales

Initial s47 visits 87%

CIN 86%

CP 92%

CIC 96%

Our performance reporting arrangements enable us to understand the nature of our 
ongoing contact with children and young people.  The table below provides a 
breakdown for April 2020 for those who have been seen physically (i.e. seen in 
person) or visually (i.e. seen remotely/virtually via ICT/digital means):

Page 62



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

7

3.0 Experiences and progress of children in need of help and protection

3.1 MASH

What do we know about the quality of social work practice?

Our multi-agency safeguarding hub (MASH) has been co-located in Shire Hall since 
October 2018 and comprises just over 79 practitioners drawn from Social Care, Early 
Help, Police, Health, Education, Substance Misuse and Domestic Abuse services.  

Gloucestershire MASH is now well established with partners and providing a robust 
focal point for the receipt and response to initial child safeguarding contacts.  The 
focus on children’s safety and welfare is paramount within the MASH.  Daily high-risk 
management meetings and domestic incident meetings (for standard and medium 
risk notifications) mobilise partners to ensure children and families receive a timely 
and proportionate multi-agency response.  Partner involvement and information 
sharing within strategy discussions is significantly improved since 2017. Work has 
recently been undertaken to revise the strategy discussion request form to ensure 
there is a clear focus on the potential for significant harm.

Work has been completed through the local children’s safeguarding partnership to 
review and refresh our multi-agency thresholds document with implementation 
supported by a series of briefings for partners and stakeholders. A further review is 
planned for later this year which will consider additional work undertaken by health 
partners around domestic abuse. Contact activity has been broadly consistent over 
the previous year at circa 2,100 per month, and although referral and re-referral 
activity remains above comparators this is beginning to improve.  The conversion 
rate from contact to referral is 29 % at March 2019, with a further 31% of contacts 
being directed to Early Help.  This remains an on-going focus of our work with 
safeguarding partners.

 
Number 

of 
Children

Seen in 
Time 
(No.)

Seen in 
Time 
(%)

 Physical

Visit

Seen via visual 
media 

Not seen within 
timescales

CIN 2027 1743 86% 1547 (76%) 196 (10%) 284 (14%)

CP 704 649 92% 603 (85.7%) 46 (6.5%) 55 (7.8%)

CIC 748 703 94% 659 (88%) 44 (6%)
54 (6%)

Page 63



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

8

Contact Activity Table 

12
18

11
56

13
01

13
11

14
68

92
2 12

31 13
96

13
60

13
16 15

32

15
45

15
36

97
2

85
7

95
5

85
4

10
29

79
8 96
8

10
09

67
1

70
8

80
2

77
3

62
0

M
ar

-1
9

Ap
r-

19

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
n-

19

Ju
l-1

9

Au
g-

19

Se
p-

19

O
ct

-1
9

N
ov

-1
9

De
c-

19

Ja
n-

20

Fe
b-

20

M
ar

-2
0

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

2190
2013

2256 2165
2497

1720

2199
2405

2031 2024
2334 2318

2156

Non-Social Care Contacts Social Care Contacts All Contacts

MASH Contacts

Performance in the MASH has improved significantly since the 2017 inspection, with 
thresholds consistently applied and children receiving an appropriate response to 
their needs, informed by regular oversight and direction by managers.  Consent is 
appropriately sought and information from partner agencies is routinely gathered to 
inform the assessment of risk and decision making.   Initial data for April indicates a 
drop in weekly contact activity of circa 30% compared to the pre-lockdown period. 
This has been a national trend.

MASH Decision Making table 

89.5% 90.3%
81.8%

90.5% 91.0% 95.1% 89.8% 84.6% 84.9% 90.8% 94.9% 93.1% 90.2%

10.5% 9.7%
17.8%

9.2% 8.9% 4.9% 10.1% 15.2% 15.1% 9.1% 5.1% 6.6% 9.4%

0.4% 0.2% 0.1% 0.1% 0.2% 0.1% 0.04% 0.4%

M
ar

-1
9

Ap
r-

19

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
n-

19

Ju
l-1

9

Au
g-

19

Se
p-

19

O
ct

-1
9

N
ov

-1
9

De
c-

19

Ja
n-

20

Fe
b-

20

M
ar

-2
0

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Within 24 Hours Over 24 Hours Decision Not Yet Made

Timeliness of Initial Decision Making Following Contact

Page 64



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

9

72%

58%

72% 74%
69%

43%
32%

52%
62% 60%

41%
M

ay
-1

9

Ju
n-

19

Ju
l-1

9

Au
g-

19

Se
p-

19

O
ct

-1
9

N
ov

-1
9

De
c-

19

Ja
n-

20

Fe
b-

20

M
ar

-2
0

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100% 93% 96% 95% 96% 96%
90%

83%
90% 94% 92%

87%

% of MASH Enquiries within 24 hours % of final decisions made within 48 hours

% of MASH Enquiries Completed within 24 hours

How do we know this?

Our MASH data platform provides for daily, weekly and monthly performance 
management information, supported by regular thematic or targeted audits to 
explore the application of thresholds and rationale for decision making.  Our audit 
activity and performance monitoring evidences consistent management oversight of 
all new contacts to the MASH.  As a consequence, managers are well positioned to 
exercise appropriate professional judgement to assess those contacts which need to 
be expedited quickly. We have increased the proportion of contacts (amber/green 
rated) subject to a MASH episode which involves purposeful social worker led 
enquiries being undertaken within the MASH environment to ensure that the 
subsequent response is fully informed and proportionate in relation to the child’s 
situation.

Current evidence is that 90.2% of decisions are made within 24 hours, with the vast 
majority of the remainder (99.6%) within 48 hours. The timeliness of our decision 
making for RED RAG rated contacts has been a particular area of focus with 94% of 
decisions now made within our target timescale (4 hrs). The co-location of our 
exploitation team, missing and domestic abuse services ensure our initial response 
to these issues is timely and benefit from multi-agency input.  

The ongoing effectiveness of the MASH and its longer-term development is overseen 
by a multi-agency board which comprises of senior leaders from the local 
safeguarding partnership, which reports in turn to the Gloucestershire Safeguarding 
Children Executive established in 2019. The MASH Board receives regular 
performance information and provides a platform for joint planning and decision 
making around longer-term MASH development.

Page 65



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

10

The timeliness of our initial visits following contact, whether as part of a single 
assessment or Section 47 enquiry, is a key area of focus within our improvement 
plans.  Performance has gradually improved over recent months and is currently at 
86% overall as at March 2020.   We know further improvement is needed and are 
working hard to achieve this.  

We have recently undertaken a joint Police – Children’s Social Care Workshop to 
review a number of casework examples which highlighted areas of practice requiring 
attention. This activity resulted in a number of revisions to the strategy meeting 
request form to reiterate the threshold and associated details. The vast majority of 
strategy discussions (74%) now take place within 5 days, with good multi-agency 
attendance and information sharing to inform decision making.  However, too high a 
proportion (53%) of Section 47 enquiries do not progress to ICPC with the 
implication that current practice is over intrusive for families.   The proportion of 
ICPC that progress to a plan is more congruent at 83%.  

During 2019 we revised our child exploitation strategy with our local safeguarding 
partners. We have established a clear pathway where concerns for children are 
reviewed quickly by the Child Exploitation Team who are co-located and work closely 
with established MASH colleagues and Locality Teams. The monthly MACE Meetings 
provide an oversight of children who are considered to be at moderate or significant 
risk of harm of exploitation and require a contextual safeguarding approach. 
Currently, there are 78 children highlighted on our CE/CSE tracker and the April 
MACE meeting considered 12 children in detail, of which 10 were indicated high risk 
and 2 medium risk. Complex strategy meetings are now chaired by the Child 
Exploitation Coordinator to provide overall continuity for children at risk of 
exploitation. 

There is a dedicated return home interview team in place to support social workers 
undertaking return interviews for children in care. They also provide independent 
return home interviews for children missing from home and whenever an 
independent return interview is requested for children in care. Two full time staff 
were commissioned in September 2019 to provide additional capacity and 
coordination. We have also updated our return home interview pathway with a 
dedicated form as part of the child’s electronic record. Weekly meetings between 
police and children’s social care and the commissioned staff take place to review and 
track all missing children. A snapshot in March 2020 showed that 74 children had a 
missing episode of which 51 (69%) had a return interview within timescales. This 
continues to be a key area of focus in order to address children’s vulnerability and 
risk of exploitation.

Page 66



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

11

We recently visited Hampshire CC colleagues to review their MASH arrangements 
and have used this as a catalyst for continuous improvement.  They have also agreed 
to undertake a peer review of Gloucestershire’s MASH which will take place later in 
2020.

During the April 2019 monitoring visit, Ofsted reported that ‘performance in the 
MASH has improved’ and that ‘the majority of referrals to the MASH from 
professionals are timely and proportionate.’  Performance has continued to improve 
in the interim.

What are our plans to improve practice?

Work will continue with our partners to improve the quality of our referral processes 
(MARF) to ensure these can be delivered via the portal on a consistent and secure 
basis.

We will sustain our vigilance to ensure accurate and comprehensive recording of key 
demographic information at the first opportunity in order to inform the subsequent 
response undertaken by our operational teams. 

We will continue to broaden the range of partners working through the MASH as the 
local fulcrum for addressing concerns about the safeguarding of children. Plans are 
well advanced to increase resources and partner engagement in the MASH – this will 
involve an increased health contribution including child and adult mental health 
services which will come on stream later in 2020.

We recently migrated our child social care data onto a secure cloud-based solution 
as the first step in a project which will provide for multi-agency data analytics and an 
emerging predictive capability to improve responsiveness to changes in demand. 

Along with the Gloucestershire Constabulary, we have recently revised our Child 
Exploitation Screening Tool and are working with the safeguarding partnership to 
implement this over the coming months ahead of a progress review by 
Gloucestershire’s Safeguarding Children Executive later in 2020. We will also review 
the impact of the revised strategy meeting request form to ensure that thresholds 
are applied consistently.
 

3.2 Assessment and Safeguarding Teams 

What do we know about the quality of social work practice?

Since the 2017 inspection our safeguarding and assessment teams have been 
restructured in order to reduce the span of managerial control and include an 

Page 67



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

12

advanced practitioner within each team, as a focal point for practice improvement. 
Teams now consist of a Team Manager, 1 Advanced Practitioner, with a reduced 
caseload, and 5 Social Workers, one of whom will usually be in their ASYE year.

Our safeguarding and assessment service is based on 6 locality areas. Two of these, 
in Gloucester and Cheltenham, are urban and account for the majority of 
safeguarding and assessment activity; the remaining four are largely rural.  In total 
there are 18 safeguarding teams and 12 assessment teams.  The main purpose of the 
Safeguarding Teams is the support of children and families subject to child 
protection plans, child in need plans and those families subject to the Public Law 
Outline process.  The Assessment Teams are responsible for the completion of 
children and families assessments following a referral from our MASH.

Our objective is for each social worker to have a caseload of 18 children or less.  
Currently 74% of our workforce is at this target, with 92% having 22 children or less. 
Senior Leaders, including the DCS are regularly visiting the locality teams and social 
workers are consistently reporting that caseloads are more manageable and that 
morale is improving and good in most areas.  A corporate staff survey undertaken in 
April/May to explore the impact of Covid 19 evidenced positive feedback from 
practitioners on communications from SLT and the capacity to work remotely.

Our performance around initial visits to children following referral has improved 
significantly since the 2017 inspection, with around 86% of initial visits in March 
2020 being completed in a timely manner.  Daily web reporting is available to 
managers to enable a tighter grip on this critical area of performance and we are 
working hard to deliver this.  Compliance in relation to visiting children in the 
Safeguarding Teams is stronger.  Initial data for April (see above) evidences that we 
are sustaining visits and contact with families under our revised Covid working 
arrangements.

Table of visits to children on a CIN/CP 

85%
89% 86% 85%

80%
86% 87% 87% 87% 88%

91% 91% 88%

M
ar

-1
9

Ap
r-

19

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
n-

19

Ju
l-1

9

Au
g-

19

Se
p-

19

O
ct

-1
9

N
ov

-1
9

De
c-

19

Ja
n-

20

Fe
b-

20

M
ar

-2
0

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Number and Percentage of Children in Need Seen in Timescales

Page 68



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

13

91% 93%
87% 87%

78%
86% 88% 87% 91% 89% 87% 91%

84%

M
ar

-1
9

Ap
r-

19

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
n-

19

Ju
l-1

9

Au
g-

19

Se
p-

19

O
ct

-1
9

N
ov

-1
9

De
c-

19

Ja
n-

20

Fe
b-

20

M
ar

-2
0

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Timeliness of Seeing Children Subject of a Protection Plan

Social workers are able to talk about the circumstances of the children and families 
they are working with although we know this is not always captured in the quality of 
case recording.  The quality of our assessments and plans is improving although 
there is more to do ensure this is consistent across all teams. They do not always 
take sufficient account of the historical context, cumulative impact and/or significant 
events for the child.  Our Essentials 2.0 Programme which is focussed on the 
fundamentals of effective social work practice has now been delivered to over 300 
practitioners and managers and is increasingly on the impacting the quality of our 
work, as evidenced through case file auditing.

Social Workers are receiving more regular supervision and case management 
oversight however this is not yet consistently evidencing improving outcomes for 
children and young people.  The Essentials 2.0 Programme highlights the importance 
of management oversight which has been endorsed through individual coaching with 
team managers to emphasise accountability. The management oversight framework 
and principles highlight the child’s story, the impact of this in terms of protective 
factors, immediate risk and long terms consequences as well as the rationale for the 
child focused actions (with realistic timescales) that clarify the threshold and 
identified risk of harm. 

The delays in allocating children to a social worker highlighted in the 2017 inspection 
have been reduced significantly and the overwhelming majority are now allocated in 
a timely manner.  Although improving, the churn in our safeguarding and assessment 
teams continues to pose a challenge to embedding our improvement activity and 
results in too many changes for some children.

The majority of assessments (86%) are completed within timescales and are 
improving in quality, particularly when informed by the ‘Anchor’ principles which 
form part of Essentials 2.0 Programme.

Page 69



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

14

Assessment Completion 

76% 72% 73% 74%
80% 81%

76% 77% 76% 77% 76%
83% 86%

M
ar

-1
9

Ap
r-

19

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
n-

19

Ju
l-1

9

Au
g-

19

Se
p-

19

O
ct

-1
9

N
ov

-1
9

De
c-

19

Ja
n-

20

Fe
b-

20

M
ar

-2
0

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Single Assessments Completed in Timescale

The significant growth in our child protection population that occurred during 2018 
has begun to reduce although it remains above statistical and national comparators 
(as at March 2020 we were 55.8 per 10,000 compared to statistical neighbours who 
were 37.3 per 10,000 at March 19).  The growth in CP activity had adversely 
impacted on timeliness although this is now improving for initial visits, strategy 
discussions and ICPC. 

Multi-agency participation in initial and review CP conferences is generally good. 
Children are being visited frequently when subject to a plan. As at March 2020, visits 
to see children subject to a child in need plan was 88% and visits to children subject 
to a child protection plan was 84%.

The majority of assessments are completed within 45 days (86%) and the numbers of 
children experiencing a delay in allocation to a social worker remains low.  Our focus 
is on improving the quality of assessments through supervision, management 
oversight and quality assurance activity.  Our Essentials 2.0 Programme specifically 
addresses the conceptualisation of risk setting out a number of ‘Anchor’ principles in 
order to inform our assessment and planning practice, including a greater emphasis 
on the risk of harm including likelihood, significance and imminence. The rates of re-
referrals within 12 months and children who are made subject to a repeat child 
protection plan remain a practice priority.

We recognise that a greater emphasis is needed within our plans to achieve positive 
change for the child within timescales that are meaningful for them.  Our case file 
auditing is beginning to evidence this but there remains a proportion of our case 
work we judge to be inadequate and this continues to be an area for targeted 
improvement.

Page 70



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

15

Neglect is the most common factor driving our safeguarding work and we have 
recently commenced a programme of work to embed the use of the Neglect Toolkit, 
including roadshows and workshop activities.  

How do we know this?

Our regular performance surgeries, at whole service and locality levels, are providing 
an increasingly effective forum for the collective scrutiny of performance; identifying 
areas of underperformance and taking remedial actions as necessary.  Reporting 
arrangements have recently been enhanced to ensure senior leaders are aware of 
the volume and frequency of professional supervision across all service areas.  
Further challenge is provided by Improvement Board and Senior Leadership Team.

Our case file audits, peer review and Ofsted monitoring visits are providing evidence 
of direct work by practitioners with families using a variety of tools.  This is not 
always adequately captured within our case recording.  The child’s voice is 
increasingly informing our work and children are usually seen alone, although more 
work is needed in both areas to ensure consistency.

We have also established an Audit Panel chaired by one of our Heads of Service, to 
review audited cases identified as ‘Requires Improvement’ to ensure that actions are 
progressed in a timely manner and share the appropriate learning across the wider 
system. The insight provided by our Quality Assurance processes indicated this is 
beginning to impact on our response to audit actions, and reduce the number of 
teams where inadequate work is found. We know there is a continuing gap between 
recorded and reportable practice, and are working hard to improve this, particularly 
through a programme of coaching sessions, delivered in localities.

What are our plans to improve practice?

Neglect is a key driver for our safeguarding work, and over recent months, we have 
begun to refresh and further embed our use of the Neglect Toolkit. Commencing at 
the point of contact, the Neglect Toolkit is opened with the Assessment Teams as 
necessary.  This has been supported by a series of roadshows and workshop 
activities to explore how the Toolkit can inform our assessment, planning, 
intervention and review processes.

A revised Pre-Birth protocol was developed in 2019, in consultation with 
safeguarding partners.  Its implementation within Children’s Social Care has been 
supported by a series of roadshows out in localities, to embed its use in practice.  A 
six-month review of initial implementation will take place 2020 to evaluate its 
impact.  

Page 71



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

16

Our levels of Child Protection activity are higher in a number of respects than our 
comparators, and we have commenced a programme of work with our partners to 
ensure we have the right balance between responding to concerns about the 
likelihood of significant harm, and over intrusion in the family.  We have recently 
revised our strategy discussion request form to ensure it is appropriately focused on 
the potential, or evidence of, significant harm.  A protocol has been developed for 
repeat Child Protection Plans, which will enhance management grip and provide the 
opportunity for a post conference multi-agency reflective meeting in situations in 
which a child becomes subject to a second or subsequent child protection plan.

We have mobilised our Improvement Advisor capacity to ensure we can progress 
improvement activity in locality teams through a coaching model that is supported 
by mentoring of Heads of Service and Managers on an individual basis.  

3.3 Early Help

What do we know about the quality of Early Help practice and outcomes?

Early help in Gloucestershire is provided by a range of directly delivered and 
commissioned services including from schools, children and family centres, health 
services, police, housing, voluntary and community sector and local authority.  Early 
help support is co-ordinated through multi-agency partnerships aligned with our 
social care localities. A comprehensive range of information, advice, guidance and 
support is available to families and practitioners through the Family Information 
Service, GlosFamilies Directory, Families First, Education and Inclusion Service and 
the Special Educational Needs and Disability Information Advice and Support Service.  

The partnerships are supported by Families First Teams (FFT) consisting of Family 
Support Workers, Community Social Workers, Parenting Workers and Employment 
Advisors.  All early help plans (My Plan/My Plan Plus) are entered on Liquid Logic as 
part of our tracking and co-ordination of activity and there are around 3,530 My 
Plan/My Plan Plus plans in place currently.   Around 2,311 held by education partners 
and Families First with our Children and Family Centres acting as lead professional 
for 725 plans.

Early help referrals are integrated within the MASH, which includes early help staff in 
its triage function.  The commissioning of the early help module (EHM) within Liquid 
Logic is a further element within the development of our local arrangements, to 
provide Families First Teams and Children and Family Centres with an accurate 
picture of the take up and effectiveness of early help activity.

Our Troubled Families programme is integrated within the locality FFTs and is 
performing well.  It operates on a whole family basis to address mental health, 
substance misuse, domestic violence, school attendance, anti-social behaviour, 

Page 72



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

17

unemployment and financial exclusion.  Gloucestershire’s programme is performing 
well in relation to engagement with families and delivering outcomes against the 
payments by results framework.

Family Group Conferences are increasingly being offered at the early help stage 
including for children and young people on the edge of exclusion and with families 
experiencing domestic abuse. An update on FGC take up and impact is set out below.

Our current priority is to better understand and evidence the impact of early help 
activity both across the system and through the FFTs and other commissioned 
services, particularly for those cases that 'step across' from statutory services.

How do we know this?

Early Help cases now form a regular part of our case file auditing programme.  Our 
audit findings for Early Help case work have tended to be positive with cases 
generally judged either Good or Requirements Improvement.  We know more work 
is needed on the quality of assessment, including analysis and SMART planning.

We are increasingly able to report on Early Help performance but we know there is 
more work to do to better evidence the impact of this work for families, particularly 
in preventing cases escalating to statutory services and those stepped down. Step 
down.  Initial visiting for Early Help (family support) is a further area of focus.

What are our plans to improve practice?

Work has commenced with local safeguarding partners to revise the local multi-
agency Early Help strategy, which we anticipate will be completed in Autumn 2020.  
We will continue to develop our Family Support practitioners to ensure they have 
the necessary skills to undertake purposeful work with families.

Family Group Conferences (FGC) are increasingly being offered against the newly 
agreed criteria implemented in September 2019.  From September 2019 to March 
2020, 562 children have been refereed for an FGC with 29% referred to prevent 
escalation of need to level 4 and requiring a statutory response and 24% deemed at 
risk of family breakdown/edge of care. Additional funding has recently been 
provided to expand our FGC offer.

Of the 562 children referred the majority of children have a legal status of either 
Section 17 (195) or Section 47 (166). 459 children were ‘living with family’ at the time 
of FGC referral.  27% (151 children) are now closed to the service. Of these, 95% 
have the same living status at closure as they had at referral, with 144 children 
remaining in the care of their family and 2 children returning to the care of their 
family

Page 73



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

18

Our Early Service has been working a cluster of schools and Cheltenham Council to 
deliver the no child left behind which seeks to improve outcomes for some of our 
most vulnerable children and young people.  The learning from the pilot will inform 
the development of our offer across the county.

3.4 Safeguarding – CP Chairs, Local Authority Designated Officer and 
Specialist Services

What do we know about the quality of social work practice?

In April 2019 the Child Protection Chairs, Independent Reviewing Officers and 
Allegations Management teams were brought together under a single leadership 
arrangement, as part of our Quality Assurance and Performance function. We have 
also increased management capacity for the service, with an additional Service 
Manager and Team Manager.

An additional 2 IRO/CP posts were also added to respond to the increases in demand 
and ensure that caseloads continue to be manageable and in line with the IRO 
handbook.  The 2017 Ofsted inspection highlighted a concern about the impact of 
the CP and IRO reviewing functions on the quality of plans and achieving 
permanence for children in care, and this has been the key area of focus in the 
interim.  We have revised the initial and review conference agendas to align with the 
Essentials 2.0 Programme, particularly on the conceptualisation of risk.  A single 
dispute resolution process encompassing both IRO and CP Chairs was implemented 
in June 2019. The new Service Leadership has also worked to establish service 
performance surgeries with the reviewing team.

In August 2019, we introduced specific case notes for IRO/CP Chairs in the electronic 
recording system, in order to capture evidence of activity between reviews.  Our 
LADO provides an effective and timely response to concerns about professionals and 
all allegations management meetings are held within 5 days.  We have recently 
implemented a LADO electronic database that will enable us to more easily discern 
trends and historical patterns relating to individuals, agencies and locations.

How do we know this?

There is increasing evidence of the use of the Dispute Resolution process as a 
mechanism to highlight concerns about the quality of practice and decision making.  
This is more evident with the IRO service, with escalations more in line with the rates 
of identified weaker practice. 

During the period 1 October 2019 to 31 March 2020 348 escalations were raised for 
Children in Care the majority highlighting drift and delay (58%) and concerns about 

Page 74



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

19

adherence to process (40%).  At the time of writing 92 % had a resolution recorded in 
Liquid Logic.  Over the same period 148 escalations were raised relating children 
subject to child protection plan of which 42% related to drift and delay with around 
40% raising safeguarding concerns. At the time of writing, 80% had a resolution 
recorded on Liquid Logic.  Our performance data on the use of the IRO/CP Chair case 
notes within Liquid Logic also shows increased use of these to evidence review and 
oversight activity, however, we know more is improvement is needed.  The need to 
improve the quality, consistency and impact of our reviewing service is 
acknowledged by senior leadership as a key priority within our improvement 
programme.

The October – December 2019 quarterly report from Barnardo’s, who are our 
externally commissioned providers, showed that they were advocating for 62 
children and young people subject to child protection procedures.

Our LADO database introduced in December 2019 has addressed the concerns raised 
by Ofsted in their September 2019 monitoring visit about our ability to provide 
robust management information about the service.  From 1 October 2019 to 31 
March 2020 there were 46 referrals of which 42 had a decision on the same day, 3 
within 1 working day and 1 within 3 days. Over the same period 38 (83%) of all 
Allegations Management Meetings (AMM) took place within 5 days of referral with 
46 completed (100%) within 10 days. Actions from AMMs have a timescale for 
completion with a system in place for following up on compliance.

What are our plans to improve practice?

We recognise that the current LADO resource requires to increase and have 
commenced the recruitment for an additional post (0.5 fte).  We will continue to 
develop our performance management and quality assurance arrangements for CP 
Chairs and LADO. 

Working with Hampshire CC Children’s Services we have undertaken an audit of 
around 80 cases involving multiple or repeat child protection planning.  This is 
feeding in to a joint piece of work between the reviewing service and operational 
Heads of Service to consider the learning and identify actions to feed into the wider 
programme of improvement activity now underway. Following an externally 
commissioned independent review, the Child Protection Team has an improvement 
and development plan supported by an externally facilitated team day which had 
been scheduled for March 2020 but will now take place later in the year. We are also 
exploring the potential to progress this earlier using virtual means or using physical 
distancing.

Page 75



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

20

3.5 Children with Disabilities

What do we know about the quality of social work practice?

Ofsted’s 2017 Inspection noted that the ‘Children with Disabilities receive a 
responsive service, consistent with their level of need.  At that time the residential 
service, Hartwood House, was rated as ‘Good’.

Since the 2017 Inspection, there has been a remodelling of the service in order to 
develop 3 distinct teams – Early Help, Safeguarding and Family Links – all reporting 
to a single Head of Service.  The Safeguarding Team comprises one Team Manager, 
one Advanced Practitioner, 4 Social Workers and one NQSW.  The Safeguarding 
Team has responsibility for ensuring children with disabilities are safeguarded and 
provide a continuum of support for children over the longer term, who have 
overnight breaks, children in need of help or protection and children in care.

The creation of the Early Help Team has increased managerial and practitioner 
capacity to provide support for children and families that does not require statutory 
services.

Our residential provision for short breaks at Hartwood House was last inspected in 
April 2019 and maintained its ‘Good’ grading.

During 2019 we have increased the capacity of our Learning Disability Nurses within 
the service.  This has enabled us to significantly reduce waiting times for a service.

Practice standards for all aspects of the DCYPS and the participation of all managers 
and practitioners within the Essentials 2.0 Programme, have been key elements of 
our improvement activities.  Improving the quality of our assessments and plans, 
purposeful visiting and management oversight and supervision have been our key 
practice priorities.

Currently, there are just over 85 children open to our Safeguarding Team and a 
further 278 with the Early Help Team acting as lead professional, with a My Plan or 
My Plan Plus in place. All children have a plan in place for Post 18 provision before 
they leave the DCYPS team.

How do we know this?

We are visiting children in a timely manner with 95% of visits to Children in Care, 
84% of visits to children on a protection plan and 88% of visits to children in need 
were completed in timescales in March 2020.  Our initial data for April indicates that 

Page 76



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

21

this performance has been sustained under our revised operating arrangements for 
Covid 19.

We work effectively with our Parent Carer Forum to ensure the views of children and 
families inform our work.  Our Personal Assistant website is in place to support 
parents as an employer.

Case file auditing is taking place on a regular basis within the Early Help and 
Safeguarding Teams.  The insight this provides is used to inform our improvement 
activity.  Although auditing is pointing to improvements in our practice and a 
reducing number of teams producing weaker work, too high a proportion of work in 
the Safeguarding Team is graded either RI or Inadequate.  A lack of purposeful and 
impactive management oversight leading to drift and delay are particular features 
we are working hard to address. 

What are our plans to improve the Service?

A ‘SMART’ Improvement Plan has been developed to address the practice issues 
highlighted in the recent Ofsted monitoring visit. We are continuing to develop our 
performance data for early help and short breaks to better evidence their impact for 
disabled children and their families.  An additional Service Manager has been 
appointed to ensure there is sufficient capacity to progress improvement activity at 
pace.

We are developing a ‘Future Me’ website as an alternative communication method 
with children, young people and families to support transition.

A single pathway for provision, particularly for young people aged 19 to 25 years 
remains an area for development as parents are telling us that options are limited 
and an over-reliance on personal assistants can be isolating for some young people.

The Local Offer will be subject to further development as it is not easy to navigate for 
some families. 

3.6 Emergency Duty Team

What do we know about the quality of social work practice?

Considerable progress has been made in addressing the issues raised about the 
effectiveness of Gloucestershire’s ‘out of hours’ response.  Our Emergency Duty 
Team (EDT) comprises of a Service Manager, Team Manager and 7 experienced 
social workers, all but one of whom is a permanent member of staff.  Management 
supervision and regular team meetings are helping to develop a cohesive team 

Page 77



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

22

culture focussed on providing a timely and proportionate response to out of hours’ 
contacts.

EDT and MASH now come under the same Service Manager which is promoting a 
consistency of response for both day time and out of hour’s child safeguarding 
contacts.  There is now a robust for recording of EDT activity including strategy 
discussions and access to partner intelligence and data in order to ensure decision 
making and subsequent responses are coordinated with our multi-agency partners.  
The response service for children and young people is distinct from the AMHPS 
service.

We have introduced an EDT request form for use by day time services to ensure 
there is clarity on the response required for the child/young person.

How do we know this?

There is regular oversight of decision making and case recording to ensure it is timely 
and the subsequent response proportionate to the situation of the child.

We recently appointed an interim deputy team manager who is driving practice 
development and management supervision.

What are our plans to improve practice?

Plans are well advanced to relocate the EDT into Gloucestershire MASH which is 
planned to take place within the next 3 months, subject to our recovery planning for 
Covid 19.  This will further embed connectivity and continuity between day time and 
out of hour’s service provision.

We will continue to further develop our quality assurance and performance 
management arrangements to ensure our decision making and subsequent actions 
are proportionate to risk and rationale are effectively recorded.

4.0 Experiences and progress of children looked after and achieving 
permanence

4.1 Looked After Children

What do we know about the quality of social work practice?

Children in our care are supported in our safeguarding teams up to the age of 11yrs 
and in our over 11 – 25 years’ service thereafter.  The 11-25 years’ Service was 
previously delivered under a contractual arrangement by Prospects (part of the Shaw 
Trust) but was brought under direct management in July 2019. 

Page 78



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

23

Gloucestershire has experienced a period of growth in our children in care 
population, of around 3% over the past year, which is now marginally above 
statistical comparators but below national.  

Children in Care population

718 727 715 717 713 715 720 726 738 734 748 739 740

M
ar

-1
9

Ap
r-

19

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
n-

19

Ju
l-1

9

Au
g-

19

Se
p-

19

O
ct

-1
9

N
ov

-1
9

De
c-

19

Ja
n-

20

Fe
b-

20

M
ar

-2
0

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

Children in Care

We have revised our entry into care procedures to ensure that necessary actions to 
meet the child’s needs are progressed in a timely manner, however we know that 
more improvement is needed to ensure this is consistent across all localities.  

Our rate of Section 20 has improved but remains significantly above England average 
of 18%.  We have taken assertive action to identify all children who are S20 and 
determine whether this legal status is appropriate.  The initial work concluded in 
February, with decisions for all the current S20 cases reviewed including whether 
legal action is needed or S20 is appropriate.  Where S20 is right for the child we 
require a clear rationale to be included on the child’s record.  The initial impact of 
this work has seen a reduction to 27.6% for our in-care population, as at March 2020, 
and the use of S20 halved for new entrants has halved.  Work is also underway with 
managers, social workers and IROs to improve their understanding of the use of S20, 
linked with the need for permanence and emotional stability.

At the same time, we have strengthened expectations of oversight by managers and 
IROs to ensure use of S20 is the subject of continuous oversight and challenge.  We 
will no longer accept the assumption that S20 is de facto acceptable for children who 
enter care in their teens or as an unaccompanied asylum-seeking young person.  The 
appropriateness of S20 must be explicitly considered at entry and key stages 
thereafter, including every statutory review.  Over time these actions will bring down 

Page 79



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

24

our rate of S20 significantly. There are some legacy issues with our in-care 
population that may limit pace and we will continue to address this.

To improve aspects of our arrangements to support children coming into our care, 
we have implemented new arrangements, guidance and tools for social work 
practitioners and managers. This covers the quality and timeliness of health support, 
the appropriate use of s20 and guidance regarding unregulated placements. This is 
beginning to show impact with significant improvements in the completion of initial 
heath assessments within timescales – 71% in March.  We have recently developed a 
quarterly oversight report capturing relevant practice and performance issues in 
relation PLO pre-proceedings and care proceedings.  

During 2019, we fundamentally revised our Sufficiency Strategy setting out an 
ambitious development programme to ensure we have the breadth of placement 
provision necessary to meet the needs of all of our children in care.  This includes the 
development of Trevone House which will provide a range of specialist and 
supported provisions, including a stepdown option from Tier 4 Mental Health 
settings which has been developed with our health partners. There is also PACE 
provision developed in partnership with our Police colleagues.

We have recently undertaken an exercise around unregistered provision to ensure 
children’s needs are being met and that provision is lawful.  This has extended to 
encompass any situations which might involve the unregulated use of connected 
persons.

A particular feature of our children in care population has been the significant 
increase in the numbers of children and young people aged 16/17 years, who stay in 
our care for less than in six weeks, which have doubled over the past five years.  Our 
Intensive Recovery Intervention Service (IRIS) has developed to provide a response 
to children and young people presenting with complex multiple needs.  

Our Functional Family Therapy (FFT) and Diversion Placement Support Team (DPST) 
are key elements in preventing entry into care and in the provision of intensive 
support to step down from care. At the end of Q3 DPST was working with 127 young 
people, of whom 55 have been discharged during Q4.  Work is ongoing with 72 
young people of whom 37 are receiving diversion work, 21 receiving support in 
placement, with the remainder focussed on reunification and Triple P.  Further 
impetus is provided by the proportion of children re-entering care which is improving 
and at 13% for Quarter 4. 

Timeliness of our pre-proceedings and court proceedings is improving but has been 
impacted by a significant increase in volume and the consequent demands on legal 

Page 80



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

25

resources and court capacity.  We have increased legal services capacity to meet this 
demand.  As part of our Covid 19 arrangements we are successfully working with the 
Children and Families court on a virtual basis. 

We recognise that more work is needed to fully explore the potential for other 
family members to provide care when parents are unable to do so.

Children in care and care leavers know how to make complaints and have access to 
advocacy and independent visitors should they require them. 

How do we know this?

The vast majority of children in our care are being visited in a timely manner (95%), 
have an up to date assessment (90%). 

The October – December 2019 quarterly report from Barnardo’s, who are our 
externally commissioned providers, showed that they were advocating for 40 
children in care/care leavers.

Children in Care visits 

96% 96% 99% 96% 96% 96% 95% 97% 96% 96% 96% 98% 95%

M
ar

-1
9

Ap
r-

19

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
n-

19

Ju
l-1

9

Au
g-

19

Se
p-

19

O
ct

-1
9

N
ov

-1
9

De
c-

19

Ja
n-

20

Fe
b-

20

M
ar

-2
0

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Statutory Visits within timescale

Placement stability for children with disabilities has improved, with 5 out of 76 
children having had 3 or more placement moves at December 2019 – compared with 
7 out of 66 in December 2018.

91% of children had their views represented in their review, either by their 
attendance, the support of an advocate, IRO, or other media.  We know there is 
more work to do in this area and have the aspiration to see a greater proportion of 
reviews led by young people.  

Page 81



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

26

92% of our children in care have an up to date health assessment, which is improved 
from 78% over the past 12 months, and 77% have an up to date dental assessment 
although the closure of dental practices other than for emergency work is likely to 
have an increasing impact on the latter.  

57% of privately fostered children were visited within timescales and we recently 
appointed a dedicated lead officer for private fostering arrangements in order to 
ensure children are appropriately safeguarded and raise the wider awareness about 
these arrangements. Our judgement is that the current number of arrangements for 
the county is too low.

Our case file auditing includes a proportionate sample of children in our care.  This 
has evidenced a need to improve the quality of practice for our children in care and 
as such forms a key element within our programme of improvement activity.  

What are our plans to improve practice?

Both short and long term placement stability remain areas for focussed 
improvement activity.  We know from our analysis that a considerable amount of 
instability occurs in the early stages of a child entering care. This is a practice priority 
and is being addressed in a number of ways to strengthen arrangements, protocols 
and practice for when children become looked after. There are now a number of 
resources that the integrated commissioning team have developed to provide advice 
and guidance to staff. These have been rolled out via a series of roadshows in all 
teams and services.

The opening of Trevone House, which is planned for September 2020, and our work 
to increase in house foster capacity and develop a broader range of accommodation 
options will impact on longer term stability.

Work has commenced with Adult Social Care to develop a transition protocol to 
ensure joint planning commences at the earliest appropriate opportunity and ensure 
a clarity and continuity of provision for young people.

We have a Health Champions Group which brings together children’s social care, 
health providers and commissioners to ensure that there is an integrated approach 
to assessment, intervention and review arrangements. We recognise that the initial 
arrangements are a key area of focus and a number of administrative changes have 
already been agreed to combat the risk of delays in the booking process for initial 
health assessments.  A Discharge from Hospital for Children in Care has recently 
been developed with health partners.

We have recently completed an audit of 60 open cases to better understand the 
quality of our permanence work at all points in the system.  The learning from this 

Page 82



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

27

exercise will feed into a joint learning event involving the reviewing service and 
operational Heads of Service, with identified actions informing our wider 
improvement programme. We will also review and refresh our permanence strategy 
in light of those findings in order to strengthen a whole system approach to achieve 
legal, placement and emotional permanence for children. 

We will shortly be undertaking a quality assurance review of our Legal Planning 
Meetings using an experienced HMI seconded to GCC Children’s Services as part of 
our Covid 19 working agreement with Ofsted.

4.2 Care Leavers

What do we know about the quality of social work practice?

The Care Leavers service was previously delivered by Prospects under an external 
contractual arrangement but was brought back in house in July 2019 in order to 
increase management grip and ensure a greater degree of integration with the 
broader programme of improvement activity taking place within Children’s Services.  
The service is delivered by 4 teams, who have experienced a greater degree of 
staffing stability than other parts of Children’s Services.  

The Social Workers and Personal Advisors know their children and young people and 
have positive relationships.  We are in regular contact with the vast majority of care 
leavers, including regular face to face meetings to ensure we have a good 
appreciation of their situation, needs and preferences.  

We have revised and published Gloucestershire’s local offer to ensure care leavers 
are clear on their entitlement and ensure we celebrate the achievements of care 
leavers on both an individual and collective basis.

During 2019 we have introduced revised pathway planning tools, which have 
benefitted from the input of care leavers, to assist practitioners in ensuring young 
people are engaged in a meaningful conversation about their future plans.  The 
outcome star is used to monitor the progress of care leavers as they develop the 
necessary life skills to live independently within the community.  

Employment Education and Training (EET) workers are linked to each care leaver’s 
team to develop opportunities for work experience, apprenticeships, employment 
and training. We have developed our EET assessment tool kit and increased our Basic 
Skills Tutor resource to help prepare young people for moving into further education 
and training.

How do we know this?

Page 83



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

28

The greater majority of our care leavers (85%) have an up to date Pathway Plan.  

Our performance around keeping in touch with care leavers has improved 
significantly since the 2017 inspection.  We have been in touch with 97% of all care 
leavers in the last 6 months, with 100% performance for 19-21 year olds.  A small 
number of 16-18 year olds have not been in contact during this period, which is a 
continued area of focus.  

Care Leavers in touch 

100% 98% 97% 96% 97% 100% 100% 99% 98% 98% 98% 99% 100%

M
ar

-1
9

Ap
r-

19

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
n-

19

Ju
l-1

9

Au
g-

19

Se
p-

19

O
ct

-1
9

N
ov

-1
9

De
c-

19

Ja
n-

20

Fe
b-

20

M
ar

-2
0

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Care Leavers in Touch in the Last 6 Months ( 19-21 Years)

The majority of care leavers (91%) are in suitable accommodation, and high-risk 
plans are put in place for any care leavers who are placed in bed and breakfast 
accommodation as an interim or emergency solution.  Our 16 plus panel is helping to 
ensure a greater focus on any situations of unsuitable accommodation, emerging 
risks of eviction and timely planning for alternative accommodation. 

91
%

9%

16-18 years

100
%

0%

Over 21 Years)

97
%

3%

All Care Leavers

Page 84



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

29

Care Leavers in Suitable Accommodation 

92% 90% 88% 90% 92% 93% 92% 91% 91% 93% 92% 92% 91%

M
ar

-1
9

Ap
r-

19

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
n-

19

Ju
l-1

9

Au
g-

19

Se
p-

19

O
ct

-1
9

N
ov

-1
9

De
c-

19

Ja
n-

20

Fe
b-

20

M
ar

-2
0

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Care Leavers in Suitable Accommodation (19-21 Years)

The proportion of care leavers in EET is at 51%, which is broadly in line with the 
England average, with X% of 19 – 21 year olds in EET which is higher than last year. 
There are also 24 (5.3%) young people in higher education which is similar to our 
comparator group as at March 2020.

What are our plans to improve practice?

As a two-tier area, the District Councils, rather than the County Council, are 
responsible for some key aspects of service provision, including housing, leisure and 
transport.   Fortunately, Gloucestershire as a whole has an appetite to deliver a 
highly aspirational vision and offer for care leavers.  A work stream has commenced 
with our local partners to begin this process with a conference held in February 
2020, attended by the National Policy Lead for care leavers, Mark Riddell.  A follow-
on virtual conference with district Councils and MHCLG lead on homelessness took 
place earlier in May and set out an approach to develop a county wide protocol. 

We know more work is needed to increase the number of care leavers engaged in 
EET, which also forms part of the work to develop a ‘care leaver proof’ approach to 
policy, in which they are considered a priority group.

84
%

16
%

16-18 Years

100
%

0%

Over 21 Years

90
%

10
%

All Care Leavers

Page 85



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

30

Ensuring that care leavers have access to appropriate mental health and emotional 
well-being services, has been a priority.  Positive work has progressed with our CCG 
and Young Gloucestershire to develop our Linked In Plus service, which provides Tier 
two emotional and mental health support for care leavers.  This commenced in 2019 
on a pilot basis and currently around 20 young people are receiving either an 
assessment or service.

We know we have more work to do to increase the availability and range of 
emergency accommodation for care leavers who experience an unexpected or 
unplanned move from their current place of accommodation.  This is a key element 
within our partnership work.

Increasing the proportion of Children in Care with an up to date, good quality 
Pathway Plan forms a key part of our Accelerated Improvement Plan.

4.3 Virtual School

What do we know about the quality of practice?

Gloucestershire’s Virtual School has been in place for 12 years and comprises of a 
dedicated education team, committed to supporting Children’s Social Care and 
championing the education of children in care, as a shared strategic priority for local 
partners.  The Virtual School has developed strong working relationships with our 
schools and education providers, and delivers an extensive programme of training 
and development across the system to ensure education providers understand the 
needs of children in care.  

This includes an attachment based mentoring programme and the promotion of a 
relational support, rather than behavioural approach to planning.

Additional resources were put in place during 2019 to meet the extended duties 
placed on the Virtual School to support children who are adopted, are subject to a 
Special Guardianship Order or a Child Arrangement Order, with education elements.  
The Virtual School has also established a dedicated post to oversee the educational 
needs of children in care post 16.  

The Virtual School makes good use of Pupil Premium, and ensures that it’s Education 
Advisors ensure that spend is linked to the Personal Education Plans (PEPs). 

Page 86



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

31

How do we know this?

Personal Education Plan (PEP) completion rates are high.  For the academic year 
2018/19, these were 87.5% for Early Years, 99% Reception to Year 11 and 94% Post 
16.  Currently, we have 24 care leavers at University.

For the academic year 2018/19 69% of children in care were in Good or Outstanding 
schools, with a further 10% in schools with no rating.  Overall attendance for the 
academic year 2018/19 for Reception through to Year 11 cohort was 93%.  

In December 2019, our external review of the Virtual School was undertaken by an 
Independent Educational Consultant which judged to be we led and focused on the 
individual educational needs of children in care.  Set out below is a summary of 
performance data for the Academic Year 2018-19.

 Gloucestershire Early Years (18 children in the eligible cohort) who achieved 
foundation stage goals. 56% (10 children)
(National CIC Early Years first statistical release 2017-18 48%)

 Gloucestershire Key Stage 1. ( 8 students in the eligible cohort , 2 not entered 
for   SATS) 
1 student (12.5%) achieved the 100 scaled score in all three areas.
There is no baseline for expected progress ``
(National CIC key stage 1 first statistical release 2017-18. 51%)

 Gloucestershire Key Stage 2 (30 students in the eligible cohort, 2 students not 
entered for SATS.) 
7 students (23.3%) achieved the 100 scaled score in all three areas
16 students (57% of entered for SATS cohort) made expected or better 
progress
(National CIC key stage 2 first statistical release 2017-18. 36%)

 Gloucestershire Key Stage 4 (47 students in the eligible cohort, 13 students 
not entered for GCSE English and Maths). 
6 students (12.8% of eligible cohort/17.6% of those who sat the GCSE’s) 
achieved grade 4+ in English and Maths
19 students (40%) maintained or improved grades during Key Stage 4
(National CIC key stage 4 first statistical release 2017-18. 13%)

 We have 24 care leavers at University. 

 Attendance 2018-19 for the Reception to Year 11 cohort was 93% 

 14.5% of the reception to Year 11 cohort experienced an exclusion

Page 87



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

32

 In 2018-19 69.2% of children in care were in OFSTED graded “Good or 
Outstanding” schools. 10.3% of children in care were in schools with no 
rating. 

 Personal Education Plan completion rates are high in 2018-19
Early years = 87.5%
Reception to Year 11 = 99%
Post 16 = 94%

 The financial year 2018-19 saw the introduction of Pupil Premium Plus 
allocation which is totally needs driven.  The breakdown of spend is as 
follows: 

Learning = £773,936.83 (64%)
Social Emotional and Mental Health = £412,927.19 (34%)
Attendance = £21,617.50 (2%)

What are our plans to improve practice?

The Virtual School is currently overseen by the Corporate Parenting Group and 
receives annual reports regarding the progress of educational attainment of children 
in care. Whilst the group challenges aspects of performance, particularly around the 
benchmarking of Gloucestershire’s children in care cohort against other local 
authorities, it is not structured in a way which enables in-depth and sufficient 
scrutiny of the educational aspects in the same manner that a School Governing 
body would.  In order to provide the rigorous oversight required, an initial outline for 
a dedicated Governing Body for the Virtual School, which will call upon a cross 
section of education, social care, governance and lay members has been developed 
and is anticipated to commence in the Autumn 2020.  

The improvement journey that Children’s Social Care is currently on is impacting on 
the Virtual School, particularly in balancing social care and educational 
considerations in the best interests of the child or young person.  A joint protocol is 
in development, which will set out clear expectations for children coming into care, 
those for whom a change in placement is planned and those who are due to be 
discharged.

Our educational outcomes from Early Years through to Key Stage 5 present a mixed 
picture, and a further priority within the development plan for the Virtual School is 
to continue to work with our schools and providers to bring outcomes for children in 
our care more in line with their peers.  Ensuring the Virtual School is able to meet the 
requirements of children in care over the whole year rather than term time is a 
further development priority.

Page 88



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

33

Page 89



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

34

4.4 Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs)

What do we know about the quality of practice?

The Ofsted Inspection identified a number of areas for improvement for the 
Reviewing service, including the IROs and CP Chairs.  In April 2019, the IROs along 
with the CP and LADO functions were brought together as a single service under the 
Head of Quality and Performance.  Since the inspection we have increased the 
establishment of IROs from 10 to 12 to ensure that caseloads are manageable. 
Currently we are operating at the upper end of the caseloads outlined within the IRO 
handbook.  

Whilst the quality of practice and our system arrangements have improved since 
2017 we know there is more work to do to improve the consistency of the IRO 
function and its impact on the wider system.  In support of this we have developed a 
number of service obsessions to ensure there is clarity around basic expectations 
upon which to build improvement.  

At an infrastructure level we have provided a case note capability within Liquid Logic 
in order to evidence activity between reviews, and a single dispute resolution 
process encompassing both CP and IRO Teams to ensure that professional concerns 
are dealt with robustly and with escalating management oversight as necessary.

How do we know this?

The DRP process is being used by IROs on an increasing basis and broadly aligns with 
the distribution and findings of inadequate practice through case file auditing.

The timeliness and levels of participation in reviews is generally good, however, we 
know there is more work to do to ensure the IRO function is tackling drift and delay 
and ensuring the planning for permanence is timely and in the best interest of the 
child.

What are our plans to improve practice?

We recognise that our performance dashboard for the IRO and CP Review functions 
need more work to ensure there is clarity on service effectiveness at practitioner and 
team levels.  An outline dashboard has been developed and will go live by mid-2020.

Administrative and logistical support is a further area for development to ensure 
Reviewing Officers have the support and tools they need to deliver their role.

The professional development, recruitment and retention of our Reviewing Officers 
are further key areas for development over the coming months.

Page 90



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

35

Internal and external reviews of the Reviewing (IRO/CP) Service were undertaken in 
January – February 2020.  These identified some progress in these teams since the 
2017 Ofsted inspection in relation to a reduction in the number of children with dual 
IRO-CP involvement, and an increase in the use of recorded and reportable 
escalations.  These reviews nevertheless identified that considerable improvements 
are needed in this service resulting in an improvement plan being implemented to 
address performance, quality, culture and structural issues.  

Pre-COVID-19 we were able to undertake a complete refresh of the performance 
arrangements for the service and now have a rigorous and well-established 
performance routine in place.  This is allowing for more accurate and incisive 
identification of key performance issues and has led to improvements in 
performance in a number of areas.  This improved performance oversight is also 
more clearly locating particular barriers to performance within, and outside of, the 
team which we are working with operational colleagues to address (e.g. the 
timeliness of ICPCs).  It has further helped to ensure equitable distributions of work 
which aids in addressing some of the cultural concerns expressed within the team.  

At the time of writing 100% of IROs and CP chairs have caseloads within tolerance.  
The length of time for children subject to CPP is also reducing and aligning with 
comparator sites (as evidenced through ChAT):

Page 91



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

36

4.5 Fostering

What do we know about the quality of social work practice?

In the 2017 Inspection, Ofsted found that the Fostering Service was a strength and 
managed effectively with well trained and supported carers.  The Service comprises 
of 7 teams responsible for Fostering Support, Recruitment, Family and Friends 
Assessment, Contact and Under 11 years Children in Care.  

The teams have not experienced the same levels of workforce churn and agency 
staffing experienced by our safeguarding teams which has helped us to build and 
sustain relationships with our foster carers who care for our children. 

There has also been significant additional investment in the fostering service to 
enhance the offer for foster carers and increase the number of fostering households.  
Foster carers are supplied through a countywide network of support groups (12 in 
total).  A new payment structure and recruitment of a dedicated finance admin 
officer has improved our financial support/payment arrangements.

We have appointed Independent Fostering Reviewing Officers to enhance our 
scrutiny and quality assurance of the Foster Carer’s review process. 

We identified an additional resource and appointed a dedicated life story 
coordinator who began work in January 2020. The Coordinator has started working 
with Cheltenham Locality Safeguarding Teams and the Under 11’s Permanence Team 
as part of a whole service approach. In addition, we have also provided therapeutic 
life story training for social work staff. 

A therapeutic model of caring for children is being implemented with the support of 
our CYPS (CAMHS) and Fostering Development Team, which focuses on training and 
supporting newly approved carers.  We have recently appointed a dedicated post to 
ensure our Private Fostering Arrangements are robust.

How do we know this?

The vast majority of children in care had an up to date visit (95%) at the end of 
March.  99% of children in care had an up to date assessment.  94% of Foster Carers 
received an annual review within the last 12 months.

The participation of Foster Carers in our training offer has increased significantly 
since the 2017 Inspection.  There were 1500 attendances in 2019 compared to 
around 700 in 2016/17.

Page 92



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

37

Over the last 12 months we have invested in therapeutic life story training for staff 
and have recruited a life story co-ordinator. It is anticipated that the number of 
children benefiting from life story work will significantly improve with this 
investment. 

74 children have benefitted from life story work which has supported them to 
understand their history, identity and journey through care. This has been in the 
form of direct life story work, life story books, toy story books and transitional books. 
  

We are increasing the amount of performance management data on our Fostering 
Service that can be reported through Liquid Logic.

What are our plans to improve practice?

We will continue to increase the net gain of in-house foster carers through improved 
retention and recruitment. Our ambition is to shift the current split to deliver an 
80:20 ratio of in-house to IFA foster carers.

We will further embed the therapeutic model of care within the Fostering Service.

Our longer-term vision for life story work is for this to become a whole service 
approach and our action plan sets out a pathway to achieve this.

4.6 Adoption and Permanence

What do we know about the quality of social work practice?

Adoption Services in Gloucestershire are now delivered through a Regional Adoption 
Agency (Adoption West), which commenced in March 2019.  Adoption West is a 
wholly Local Authority Company, bringing together the adoption teams of six local 
authorities in the South West.

Gloucestershire Children’s Services continue to have responsibility for all children in 
our care who have a plan for adoption.  Adoption West has responsibility for the 
adopter elements including post adoption support.

Collaborative working is delivered through joint monthly tracking, Head of Service bi-
monthly review meetings and monthly operational oversight meetings.

Early Permanence (Foster to Adopt) remains an option and is considered for all 
children where the plan is likely to be adoption.

Page 93



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

38

How do we know this?

There are 9 children who have benefitted from an early permanence placement 
since April 2019.  A number of these are still in proceedings and the overall outcome 
is yet to be determined.  If adopted these children will benefit from minimal 
disruption and remain with the current carers, with whom they have developed an 
attachment from a young age.  

Adopters are approved as foster carers under Regulation 25a by the Local Authority 
and are supported through this process by Adoption West.  Specific early 
permanence training is provided to adopters in addition to the standard preparatory 
work.

Adoption West commenced operation in March 2019 and whilst it is too early to 
determine its full impact, there is emerging evidence that it is bringing a consistent 
and timely approach towards adopters, with the capacity to increase availability over 
time, and provide a good match for children from the participating authorities.

What are our plans to improve practice?

Adoption West has developed a comprehensive business plan setting out how it will 
develop over the next 3-5 years.  This is overseen by a Board of Directors, comprising 
of Senior Strategic Leads from the participating local authorities.  At an operational 
level, Adoption West work closely with a Heads of Service group to ensure that joint 
working is seamless and timely.

A comprehensive business continuity plan has been put in place in response to the 
challenges of Covid 19 which has enabled services to continue on a dispersed or 
virtual basis including the recruitment, assessment and training of adopters.

4.7 Edge of Care

What do we know about the quality of social work practice?

Gloucestershire’s Edge of Care offer comprises of a number of different elements 
including our Diversion Placement Support Team (DPST), Family Group Conference 
Service (FGC), Functional Family Therapy (FFT), Intensive Recovery Intervention 
Service (IRIS) and a range of parenting programmes/interventions, including Triple P. 
Our aim with these interventions is to work with families in a restorative, strengths-
based approach.

Page 94



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

39

We acknowledge that these are not streamlined or coordinated and do not provide a 
coherent offer that is easy for professionals to navigate. It also compromises the 
ability of families to access and appreciate the nature of the support they are being 
offered. Although some good work is taking place within individual teams and 
services the lack of coherence, coupled with the absence of a coordinated 
performance scorecard, makes the impact of these services difficult to evidence in 
terms of outcomes for children and families. 

There are currently more children entering care than are leaving and whilst our 
Sufficiency Strategy predicted an increase in the overall number of children in care 
the estimate has already been exceeded. This has therefore become an urgent 
priority development for the service.

How do we know this?

We acknowledge that our performance management arrangements in this area 
require further development however what we already know is as follows:

 FGC – Family Group Conferences (FGC) are increasingly being offered against the 
newly agreed criteria implemented in September 2019.  From September 2019 to 
March 2020, 562 children have been referred for an FGC with 29% referred to 
prevent escalation of need to level 4 and requiring a statutory response and 24% 
deemed at risk of family breakdown/edge of care. Of the 562 children referred 
the majority of children have a legal status of either Section 17 (195) or Section 
47 (166). 459 children were ‘living with family’ at the time of FGC referral.27% 
(151 children) are now closed to the service. Of these, 95% have the same living 
status at closure as they had at referral, with 144 children remaining in the care 
of their family and 2 children returning to the care of their family.

 IRIS – a recent service snapshot showed that only a handful children were 
supported by IRIS foster carers. Given the total IRIS resource at this time (x 11 
specialist placements) this identifies a significant void where valuable resources 
were not being sufficiently well targeted to meet the needs of children in need of 
care.  Work is progressing to ensure IRIS is making an effective contribution to 
our edge of acre work.

 DPST – the quarter 4 performance report for 2019/20 shows that 72 children and 
young people were supported by DPST. The majority of this intervention focused 
on diversion from care, followed by placement support and minimal input 
regarding reunification.

Page 95



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

40

 Triple P - delivered 124 groups, from Discussion Groups on specific parental 
challenges, a range of targeted group work including ‘Transitions’ for parents 
who are parenting separately and ‘Stepping Stones’ for parents of disabled 
children.  580 parents have received an intervention between 1 April 2019 and 
31 March 2020.  3 key measures used to understand impact and analysis of all 
measures collected pre and post intervention show a significant reduction in 
parental depression and anxiety to within the normal range expected and a more 
positive relationship with their children:

 Parenting Scale looks at three dysfunctional discipline styles of parents.  
Laxness (permissive and inconsistent discipline; over-reactivity (harsh, 
emotional, authoritarian discipline and irritability) and hostility (use of verbal 
and physical force) 

 DAS21 questionnaire measures parental stress, depression and anxiety

 Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) – measuring parents’ 
perceptions of their children’s pro and difficult behaviours and frequency of 
positive and negative behaviours.

What are our plans to improve practice?

Following a recent review, we are proposing to remodel the existing range of 
services and interventions to focus on three key functions; diversion from care, 
support in care and reunification. The proposal is to take an incremental approach to 
pilot and test the three key functions within the context of a developing Edge of Care 
Service. 

The onset of Covid 19 has required a pause in our remodelling work and the first 
service element focusing on reunification is now due to commence later in 2020 with 
the in-care support and diversion from care support coming on stream in Autumn 
2020. Taken together this preliminary work will inform remodelling of the whole 
system taking further account of the learning.

5.0 The Impact of Leaders on Social Work Practice with Children and 
Families

What do we know about the quality of social work practice?

A new Director of Children’s Services was appointed in March 2018 bringing 
considerable experience as a DCS and in leading improvement activity elsewhere.  A 
fully staffed permanent leadership team has been in place since August 2018 and 
includes officers with previous DCS/Director level experience.  The Cabinet Member 

Page 96



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

41

for Children’s Services took up post in May 2017, and working with the DCS, has 
revitalised the political engagement and oversight of Children’s Services.  

There is good cross-party input into the Improvement Board and Children’s Overview 
and Scrutiny processes, informed by a comprehensive performance framework that 
enables members to understand performance by reference to meaningful statistical 
neighbour and national comparators.  The support this has engendered includes a 
significant increase in financial and infrastructure investment into Children’s Services 
enabling us to reduce caseloads and equip social workers with the ICT necessary for 
agile, child centred working. 

Elected members are actively engaged in their role as corporate parents and 
acknowledge the need to ensure that the wider range of Council services contribute 
towards improving outcomes for children and young people.

The three statutory safeguarding partners, Gloucestershire CCG, Constabulary and 
GCC, published their local arrangements to meet the requirements of Working 
Together 2018 in April 2019, with full implementation in July 2019.  This has 
provided an opportunity to further cement partnership working and develop links 
with the Health and Wellbeing Board and Safer Gloucestershire Partnership, 
particularly around contextual and complex safeguarding arrangements for children.

Working with Public Health colleagues, a comprehensive children and young people 
strategic needs assessment has been completed to underpin and inform future 
commissioning and service improvement activity. Local partners are also making 
increasing use of the research on adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) in order to 
develop a common language and trauma informed approach towards our child and 
adult populations.

Gloucestershire Children’s Services is becoming increasingly open to learning from 
its own experiences, and that of others, in order to inform and advance its 
improvement journey.  Our Social Work Academy, working with Research in Practice 
(RiP), is key to realising that aspiration by providing a focal point for the continuous 
professional development of social work trainees, newly qualified practitioners and 
experienced/advanced practitioners.  

Our Principal Social Worker and Practice Learning Teams are utilising research, best 
practice and the learning from case file auditing and thematic audits to inform our 
improvement journey and professional development activity. Our Advanced 
Practitioners located within our operational teams are also a key resource in 
disseminating and reinforcing practice improvement activity. This is further 
supported by our Partner in Practice: Essex County Council and our Ambassadors. 

Page 97



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

42

Research in Practice (RiP) is available to all practitioners and managers as a further 
source of learning and continuous professional development.  

Our Essentials 2.0 Training programme now provides outreach support working with 
teams in local areas to explore their own casework as a means to improve the 
practice fundamentals of assessment, planning and intervention.  A Team Manager 
and Head of Service development programme has also been delivered with the 
Institute of Personal Care (IPC) to strengthen our management and leadership 
capacity. 

Gloucestershire Children’s Services is increasingly self aware and informed about its 
strengths and weaknesses.  A comprehensive performance dashboard is now in 
place with a clear programme of development to ensure this encompasses all key 
aspects of performance from initial contact through to permanence.  Our aim is to 
ensure all aspects of performance are integrated within our PMF, to enable 
consistent reporting via our case management system (Liquid Logic).  

Performance reporting is available to Heads of Service and Team Managers via an 
intranet-based system of daily/weekly reports down to team, practitioner and child 
level data.  This is supported by a series of monthly performance surgeries that 
ensure action is taken to address underperformance and focuses on impact and 
outcomes for the child.

Whilst management oversight of practice and the use of performance data are 
improving they are not yet embedded and consistent across all service areas.  A key 
area of development is to translate data into meaningful activity for children, 
informed by a comprehensive appreciation of risk and the situation of the child.  Our 
case file audits, whilst more accurate, are not yet evidencing sufficient impact on the 
quality of practice.

A comprehensive multi agency safeguarding data dashboard has been agreed by the 
safeguarding partnership executive in support of our local arrangements to meet the 
requirements of Working Together 2018. 

Our revised workforce strategy includes a comprehensive range of measures to 
improve the stability and skill set of our workforce.  An enhanced recruitment and 
retention package has been implemented for ‘hard to recruit’ posts/teams alongside 
a ‘grow our own’ approach towards future workforce needs.  This encompasses Step 
Up to Social Work, ASYE and Frontline, the recruitment of overseas social workers, 
flexible contracting arrangements and the use of apprenticeships and Open 
University, as further routes into the profession. 

Page 98



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

43

Our workforce is increasingly stable with an agency cohort that has reduced from 
50% to 30%, whilst our Social Worker establishment increased by circa 60 posts.  We 
know that there is more work to do to further reduce the reliance on agency staff. 
More social workers (74%) have caseloads that are on or around our target of 18 
children, although this can be impacted in some teams by workforce churn and the 
need to reallocate cases.  This has had a further adverse impact on the continuity of 
practice for some children and families. 

1 May 2020 1 April 2020 1March 20201st Feb 2020 1st Jan 2020 1st Dec 
2019

Vacancies 
%

18.95% 18.37% 18.1% 18.1% 18.6% 18.8%

Vacancies 
FTE

77.60 75.18 74.42 74.33 76.39 77.04

Agency % 30.6% 30.8% 33.5% 32% 32.5% 33.2%

Agency 
No

123 126 137 131 133 136

Turnover 12.9% 12.5% 10.9% 12.2% 12% 11.6%

Morale has improved over recent months as the impact of our work becomes more 
visible.  We will continue to use a range of measures to directly engage with our 
workforce in order to test morale and gauge the temperature within teams and 
services.

How do we know this?

Our Performance and Quality Assurance arrangements are providing the leadership 
and management group with the information required to improve outcomes for 
children and young people. 

This is evidencing a gradual and sustained improvement in performance in some key 
areas of practice such as MASH decision making, assessment timeliness, initial and 
ongoing visits to children and the allocation of social workers are showing signs of 
improvement however, we know we must increase its pace and consistency.  

Quality Assurance is increasingly accurate and giving a good insight into the 
effectiveness of practice. The proportion of inadequate practice, although improving, 
is not yet where we would want it to be and remains a practice priority.  Inadequate 
practice is now concentrated with identified practitioners and managers within a 

Page 99



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

44

smaller number of teams. These are being supported through the improvement and 
challenge work now under way. Where necessary this also includes the use of 
corporate employee support policies. 

While our quality assurance and performance reporting are accurate and informative 
we know there is more to do to incorporate the business insights provided by 
complaints, staff surveys, child safeguarding practice reviews and feedback from 
services users, staff and partners to provide a high-level strategic overview of our 
overall effectiveness and improvement journey. 

What are our plans to improve practice?

Working in partnership with the LGA and DfE, we commissioned Dr Andy Gill to 
undertake a review the current range of improvement and service development 
activity underway across children’s services and layout a road map for a single, long 
term transformation programme.  Dr Gill’s recommendations have been accepted 
and are informing the development of single whole service transformation plan 
which will supersede ‘Building the Best’, incorporating any residual activity that has 
not yet been delivered. In the immediate term, the ‘Accelerated Improvement Plan’ 
will continue to provide the focal point for our improvement activity.  The AIP will be 
stood down when our practice fundamentals are consistently high performing and 
embedded as part of ‘business as usual’.  

In order to further accelerate the pace and consistency of improvement we have 
brought together a number of senior practitioners as a dedicated improvement 
resource.   A detailed programme of work for the next 3 – 6 months has been set out 
in an Improvement Activity Planning Grid which is reviewed on a weekly basis at an 
improvement executive meeting chaired by the DCS.  A set of practice fundamental 
have been developed in conjunction with the Social Work Academy to enable 
practitioners and managers to achieve and maintain good standards of practice.  
These set out the salient features of effective:

 Supervision and Management Oversight
 Visiting and Direct Work
 Assessment
 Planning and Review
 Case Recording

The Social Work Academy will continue to develop its curriculum to ensure that our 
trainee social workers, newly qualified and experienced practitioners have the skill 
set and knowledge to deliver high quality social work and meet the challenges of the 
21st Century.  Our Workforce Development Programme for the next 12 months is 
based on the following key elements:

Page 100



GCC Children’s Service SEF V10 22.5.20

45

- Essentials 2.0 will continue for all new starters and those needing refresher 
input.

- Essentials 3.0 is a new element encompassing modules on Relational Practice, 
Domestic Abuse, Parental Mental Health, Parental Substance Misuse, and 
Capacity to Change for all teams.

- Practice Fundamentals to support the translation of the KSS/PQS imbued 
practice fundamentals into all social care teams.  The Academy will offer a 
learner-centred curriculum to support the individual KSS/PQS development 
needs that are identified through supervision, QA and performance feedback 
mechanisms.

   
- Leadership Development Programme a practice-oriented series of modules 

covering the KSS/PQS for managers and supporting the translation of these 
into impact within their teams.

We have delivered a number of taster sessions to explore the adoption of a systemic 
model of social work practice, supported by the Institute for Family Therapy (IFT) and 
Essex County Council. We are well advanced with the development of a 
comprehensive implementation plan to introduce systemic practice as our preferred 
model over the next 18 months.

Stabilising the workforce through a ‘grow our own’ approach, supported by a 
competitive and comprehensive recruitment and retention package, will remain a 
key priority.  We will continue to expand the range of routes into social work 
supported by the Social Work Academy to ensure practitioners are able to develop in 
a safe and supported way.

We will continue to refine our Quality Assurance and Performance Management 
arrangements linked to a programme of coaching and mentoring, delivered by our 
Improvement Advisors. We are now at a point to begin the process of incorporating 
the information, learning and intelligence from across the whole system to provide a 
single strategic overview of our effectiveness and improvement journey. We will 
have this in place by June 2020.

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Children's Services Improvement Journey and Covid 19
	Ofsted Monitoring Letter
	Overview and Scrutiny - Practice Improvement Update Report 08.07.2020
	Accelerated Improvement  Plan May 2020 Final
	Children's Services SEF - May 2020 V10


